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Because significant 50 percent or less owned investments of

CMS Energy are not consolidated, CMS Energy believes that

the discussion below of certain proportionate data enhances

an understanding and assessment of its results of operations.

The table above sets forth the major components of CMS

Energy’s net income for each of the last three years on a 

proportionate accounting basis. Proportionate accounting

reflects CMS Energy’s pro rata ownership interest in its energy

projects and investments. Except for certain industries, pro-

portionate accounting is not in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles.

O f the $686 million increase in 1998 operating reve nu e,

$169 million (25 percent) is at t r i bu t able to operating reve nu e

f rom 1998 investments by the i n t e rn ational energy distribu t i o n

s eg m e n t , and an increase of $161 million (23 percent) in rev-

e nue associated with investments made in 1997 (CMS Gener-

at i o n’s Loy Yang and Jo r f L a s far p ro j e c t s, and CMS MST’s

Texon acquisition). The $492 million i n c rease in operat i n g

expenses includes $123 million (25 percent) re l ated to 1998

i n t e rn ational energy investments and $100 million (20 per-

cent) associated with increases in cost re l ated to the 1997

i nvestments prev i o u s ly described. The $100 million incre a s e

in fixed ch a rges includes $33 million (33 percent) of i n t e re s t

ch a rges associated with new intern ational energy inve s t-

ments and an increase of $45 million (45 percent) in inter-

est ch a rges re l ating to Loy Yang and Jo r f L a s fa r.

O f the $863 million increase in 1997 operating reve nu e,

$350 million (40 percent) is at t r i bu t able to operating reve nu e

f rom investments in 1997 (Loy Ya n g, Jo r f L a s far and Texo n ) .

The $741 million increase in operating expenses includes a

$271 million (36 percent) increase in expenses for these same

t h ree 1997 inve s t m e n t s. The $111 million increase in fixe d

ch a rges includes $60 million (54 percent) of i n t e rest ch a rge s

a s s o c i ated with Loy Yang and Jo r f L a s fa r.

For further information, refer to the Management’s

Discussion and Analysis.

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Operating revenue $ 6,358 $5,672 $4,809
Operating expenses 5,238 4,746 4,005

Pretax operating income 1,120 926 8 0 4
Fixed charges (a) 638 538 427
Other income (expenses), net (24) (7) 1

Income before income taxes 458 381 378
Income taxes 173 137 1 5 4

Net income $ 285 $ 244 $ 224

Operating cash flow (b) $ 1,724 $1,505 $ 1,319

(a) Fixed charges include interest on long-term debt,preferred dividends, and Trust Preferred Securities’ distributions less capitalized interest.
(b) Pretax operating income plus depreciation and amortization.
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The increase in consolidated net income for 1998 over 1997

resulted from increased earnings from the electric utility; inde-

pendent power production; natural gas transmission, storage

and processing; and marketing, services and trading businesses.

Partially offsetting these increases were lower earnings from the

gas utility, exploration and production and international energy

distribution businesses, the recognition of a $37 million loss

($24 million after-tax) for the underrecovery of power costs

under the power purchase agreement between Consumers and

the Midland Cogeneration Venture Limited Partnership (MCV

Partnership), and higher interest expense.

The increase in consolidated net income for 1997 over 1996

resulted from increased income from the electric utility; inde-

pendent power production; and natural gas transmission, stor-

age and processing bu s i n e s s e s. Pa rt i a l ly offsetting these incre a s e s

were lower incomes from the gas utility and exploration and

production businesses, coupled with higher interest expense.

For further information, see the individual results of

operations for each CMS Energy business segment in this 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

CONSUME RS’ ELECTRI C UTI LI TY 
R E S U LT S OF  OPERAT I O N S

Electric Pretax Operating Income:

In Millions

Change Compared to Prior Year 1998 vs 1997 1997 vs 1996

Deliveries (including special 

contract discounts) $40 $ 5

Lower power supply cost per kWh 20 —

Rate increases and other 

non-commodity revenue (4) 11

Operation and maintenance (3) 24

General taxes, depreciation and other (10) (19)

Total increase (decrease) in pretax 

operating income $43 $21

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements, as

defined by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Where any such forward-looking statements include a statement

of the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements,

CMS Energy cautions that, while such assumptions are believed

to be reasonable and are made in good faith, assumed results

almost always vary from actual results and differences between

assumed and actual results can be material. The type of

assumptions that could materially affect the actual results are

discussed in the Forward-Looking Statements section in this

M a n age m e n t ’s Discussion and A n a ly s i s. M o re specific risk

fa ctors are contained in various public filings made by CMS

Energy with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

This Annual Report also describes material contingencies in the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and the readers are

encouraged to read such Notes.

Results of Operations

CMS ENE RGY CONS OLID ATED  EAR NINGS

In Millions, Except Per Share Amounts

Years Ended December 31 1998
(a)

1997 Change

Consolidated Net Income $ 285 $ 244 $ 41

Net Income Attributable to Common Stocks:

CMS Energy 272 229 43

Class G 13 15 (2)

Earnings Per Average Common Share:

CMS Energy

Basic 2.65 2.39 .26

Diluted 2.62 2.37 .25

Class G

Basic and Diluted 1.56 1.84 (.28)

(a) Includes the cumulative effect of an accounting change for property
taxes which increased net income by $43 million or $.40 per share—basic
and diluted—for one of two classes of common stock of CMS Energy,
par value $.01 per share (CMS Energy Common Stock) and $12 million
or $.36 per share—basic and diluted—for one of two classes of common
stock of CMS Energy, no par value (Class G Common Stock).

CMS Energy Corporation (CMS Energy) is the parent holding company of Consumers

Energy Company (Consumers) and CMS Enterprises Company (Enterprises). Consumers

is a combination electric and gas utility company serving the Lower Peninsula of Michigan

and is the principal subsidiary of CMS Energy. Enterprises is engaged in several domestic

and international energy-related businesses including: acquisition, development and opera-

tion of independent power production facilities; oil and gas exploration and production;

transmission, storage and processing of natural gas; energy marketing, services and trad-

ing; and international energy distribution.
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Electric Deliveries: Total electric deliveries in 1998 were 40 bil-

lion kilowatt-hours (kWh), an increase of 6 percent over 1997.

The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in sales

between utility systems and a 3 percent increase in deliveries to

ultimate customers. Total electric deliveries in 1997 were 38 bil-

lion kWh, an increase of 2 percent over 1996 d e l ive r i e s. Th e

i n c rease in 1997 was the result of c o n t i nued economic growth in

Michigan and a 1 percent increase in deliveries to ultimate cus-

tomers, primarily within the industrial class.

Power Supply Costs: Cost increases in both 1998 and 1997

over the prior periods reflect increased power purchases from

outside sources to meet increased sales demand. In addition, the

1998 cost increase reflects higher internal kWh generation to

meet the increased demand for electricity. The following table

quantifies the changes in electric power costs:

Years Ended In Millions

December 31 1998 1997 Change 1997 1996 Change

$1,175 $1,139 $36 $1,139 $1,087 $52

Consumers purchased $5 million of energy options to ensure a

reliable source of capacity during the summer months of 1998.

As a result of weather conditions and fluctuations in the price

of electricity, some options were sold totaling $11 million dur-

ing June, July, and August 1998. All of the remaining options

have expired. The costs relating to the expired options and

income received from the sale of options were reflected as 

purchased power costs.

Uncertainties: CMS Energy’s financial position may be

affected by a number of trends or uncertainties that have, or

CMS Energy reasonably expects could have, a material impact

on net sales, revenues, or income from continuing electric opera-

tions. Such uncertainties are: (i) environmental liabilities arising

from compliance with various federal, state and local environ-

mental laws and regulations, including potential liability or

expenses relating to the Michigan Natural Resources and Envi-

ronmental Protection Act and Comprehensive Environmental

Response, Compensation and Liability Act; (ii) capital expendi-

tures for compliance with the federal Clean Air Act, as

amended (Clean Air Act); (iii) suits by two independent power

producers alleging antitrust violations and economic losses due

to special electric contracts signed by Consumers; (iv) cost

recovery relating to the natural ga s - f u e l e d , c o m b i n e d - cycl e

c oge n e ration facility (MCV Fa c i l i t y ) and nuclear plant invest-

ments and an experimental direct-access program; (v) electric

industry restructuring; (vi) implementation of a frozen power

supply cost recovery and initiatives to be undertaken to reduce

exposure to high energy prices; (vii) after-tax cash underrecov-

eries associated with power purchases from the MCV Partner-

ship; and (viii) Big Rock Point nuclear power plant d e c o m m i s-

sioning issues and ongoing issues re l ating to the storage of s p e n t

fuel and the operating life of Palisades nu clear power plant (Pa l-

i s a d e s ) . For detailed info rm ation about these trends or uncert a i n-

ties see Note 3, “ U n c e rt a i n t i e s,” i n c o rp o rated by re fe rence here i n .

C ONSUME RS GAS  G ROUP 
R E S U LT S OF  OPE RAT I O N S

Gas Pretax Operating Income:

In Millions

Change Compared to Prior Year 1998 vs 1997 1997 vs 1996

Sales $(36) $(13)

Reduced gas cost per thousand cubic feet 19 —

Gas wholesale and retail 

services activities 1 (9)

Operation and maintenance (1) 24

General taxes, depreciation and other (10) (7)

Total increase (decrease) in pretax 

operating income $(27) $ (5)

Gas Deliveries: System deliveries in 1998, including miscella-

neous transportation, totaled 360 billion cubic feet (bcf),

a d e c rease of 60 bcf or 14 percent compared to 1997. Th e

decreased deliveries for 1998 compared to 1997 reflect warmer

temperatures in 1998. System deliveries in 1997, including 

miscellaneous transportation, totaled 420 bcf, a decrease of

28 bcf or 6 percent compared to 1996. The decreased deliveries

for 1997 compared to 1996 reflect warmer temperatures in 1997

and the loss of an extra day for the 1996 leap year.

Cost of Gas Sold: The cost decrease for 1998 was the result of

d e c reased sales and decreased gas prices. The cost decrease fo r

1997 also was the result of d e c reased sales and lower gas prices.

Years Ended In Millions

December 31 1998 1997 Change 1997 1996 Change

$564 $694 $(130) $694 $750 $(56)

Uncertainties: CMS Energy’s financial position may be affected

by a number of trends or uncertainties that have, or CMS

Energy reasonably expects could have, a material impact on net

sales or revenues or income from continuing gas operations.

Such uncertainties are: (i) potential environmental costs at a

number of sites, including sites formerly housing manufactured

gas plant facilities; (ii) a statewide experimental gas transporta-

tion program; and (iii) implementation of a frozen gas cost

recovery and initiatives undertaken to protect against gas price

increases. For detailed information about these uncertainties see

Note 3, “Uncertainties,” i n c o rp o rated by re fe rence here i n .
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CMS Oil and Gas’ net plant and pro p e rty and defe rred tax liab i l i t y

o f $270 million and $95 million, re s p e c t ive ly, and a $15 million

d e c rease in CMS Gas Tra n s m i s s i o n’s equity investment in Nitro t e c.

N ATU RA L G AS TRA NS MISSI ON, STO RAGE AND P ROCESS IN G
R E S U LT S OF OPE RAT I O N S

P retax Operating Income: P retax operating income for 1998

i n c reased $6 million (22 percent) from the comparable period in

1 9 9 7 . The increase primarily re flects a gain on the sale of Pe t a l

Gas Storage Company, a gain on the sale of Au s t ralian ga s

re s e rve s, and lower operating ex p e n s e s, p a rt i a l ly offset by a

d e c rease in earnings from intern ational operat i o n s. P retax operat-

ing income for 1997 increased $10 million (59 percent) from 1996.

The increase primarily re flects income at t r i bu t able to an Au s-

t ralian pipeline acquired in 1997, higher income from domestic

and intern ational operat i o n s, a larger re s t ated loss from Nitro t e c

in 1996 subsequent to conve rting to the successful effo rts method

o f a c c o u n t i n g, and a gain on the sale of a portion of the Cre s c e n t

and Ames gas gathering systems and processing plant in Okla-

h o m a . These increases we re part i a l ly offset by the 1996 ga i n

resulting from the dissolution of the Moss Bluff Gas Storage

Systems and Grand Lacs Limited Pa rt n e rs h i p s.

M ARKE TING , SE RVICES  A ND TR ADING 
R E S U LT S OF OPE RAT I O N S

Pretax Operating Income: Pretax operating income for 1998

increased $9 million from the comparable period in 1997. This

increase is the result of improved margins on electricity and gas

sales combined with increased electric and gas sales volumes,

partially offset by additional operating costs relating to growth

objectives. Pretax operating income for 1997 decreased $7 mil-

lion from the 1996 period. The decrease is a result of substan-

tially higher than expected natural gas prices that severely

restricted CMS Marketing, Services and Trading Company’s

ability to achieve positive margins on fixed price sales, and

higher than expected start-up costs. Electric marketing volumes

reached 6.9 million MW for the year ended December 31, 1998

compared to 900,000 MW for the comparable period in 1997.

Gas managed and marketed for end users totaled 366 bcf,

243 bcf and 108 bcf for the years ended December 31, 1998,

1997 and 1996, respectively.

MARKET RIS K INFOR MAT I O N

CMS Energy is exposed to market risk incl u d i n g, but not limited

t o, ch a n ges in interest rat e s, c u rre n cy exch a n ge rat e s, and cert a i n

commodity and equity prices. D e r ivat ive instruments incl u d i n g,

but not limited to, f u t u res contra c t s, swap s, options and fo r wa rd

c o n t racts may be used to manage these ex p o s u re s. D e r ivat ives are

p r i n c i p a l ly used to hedge market risks.

INDEP EN DENT P OWE R PR ODUCTI ON 
R E S U LT S OF  OPE RAT I O N S

P retax Operating Income: P retax operating income for 1998

i n c reased $48 million (50 percent) from the comparable period in

1 9 9 7 . This increase primarily re flects increased operating income

f rom intern ational plant earnings and fe e s, a $26 million gain on

the sale of t wo biomass project power purchase agre e m e n t s, a n d

a $9 million gain on the sale of t wo biomass plants, p a rt i a l ly off-

set by higher net operating expenses and a scheduled re d u c t i o n

in the industry ex p e rtise service fee income earned in connection

with the 2,000 megawatt (MW) brown coal-fueled Loy Yang A

p ower plant and an associated coal mine in Vi c t o r i a , Au s t ra l i a

( L oy Ya n g ) . P retax operating income for 1997 increased $28 mil-

lion (41 percent) from 1996, p r i m a r i ly re flecting increased inter-

n ational earn i n g s, higher electricity sales by the MCV Fa c i l i t y,

and the industry ex p e rtise service fee income earned in connec-

tion with Loy Yang in 1997. These increases we re part i a l ly off s e t

by the absence of c e rtain 1996 nonre c u rring ga i n s, i n cluding the

gain on the sale of a power purchase agre e m e n t .

OIL AND  G AS EX PLO RATION AN D PR ODUCTI ON 
R E S U LT S OF  OPE RAT I O N S

Pretax Operating Income: Pretax operating income for 1998

decreased $20 million (77 percent) from the comparable period

in 1997. This decrease is the result of lower oil prices and a gain

in the prior period from the sale of CMS Oil and Gas Com-

pany’s (CMS Oil and Gas) (formerly CMS NOMECO Oil &

Gas Co.) entire interest in oil and gas properties in Yemen, par-

tially offset by increased oil production, decreased exploration

expenses, and decreased depreciation, depletion and amortiza-

tion expenses. Pretax operating income for 1997 decreased 

$7 million (21 percent) from 1996 as a result of lower oil and

gas prices, decreased gas production and higher operating

expenses. The decrease is partially offset by a gain on the sale 

of the entire interest in oil and gas properties in Yemen and 

33 percent higher oil production.

CMS Oil and Gas ch a n ged its method of a c c o u n t i n g, e ffe c t ive

Ja nu a ry 1, 1 9 9 8 , for oil and gas operations from the full cost

method to the successful effo rts method. CMS Oil and Gas

b e l i eves that the successful effo rts method will minimize asset

w r i t e - o ffs caused by periodic price sw i n g s, wh i ch may not be rep re-

s e n t at ive of ove rall or long-term marke t s, and will allow its re s u l t s

o f o p e rations to be more easily compared to other oil and ga s

c o m p a n i e s. N i t rotec Corp o ration (Nitro t e c ) , in wh i ch CMS Gas

Transmission and Storage Company (CMS Gas Transmission) has

an equity inve s t m e n t , also elected to conve rt , e ffe c t ive Ja nu a ry 1,

1 9 9 8 ,f rom the full cost method of accounting to the successful

e ffo rts method of a c c o u n t i n g. All prior period financial stat e m e n t s

p resented have been re s t ated to confo rm with successful effo rt s

a c c o u n t i n g. The effe c t , after tax, o f the ch a n ge in accounting

method as of December 31, 1 9 9 7 , was a reduction to re t a i n e d

e a rnings of $175 million for CMS Oil and Gas and $15 million fo r

CMS Gas Tra n s m i s s i o n ,p r i m a r i ly at t r i bu t able to a decrease in
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M a n agement uses commodity futures contra c t s, options and

swaps (wh i ch re q u i re a net cash payment for the diffe re n c e

b e t ween a fixed and va r i able price) and oil swaps to manage

commodity price risk. Th ey also use fo r wa rd exch a n ge contra c t s

to hedge certain re c e ivabl e s, p ayables and long-term debt re l at-

ing to fo reign inve s t m e n t s. M a n agement also uses equity inve s t-

ments in wh i ch CMS Energy or its subsidiaries hold less than a

20 percent intere s t . These commodity, financial and equity

i n s t ruments do not expose CMS Energy to material market risk.

During 1998, derivative trading activities were immaterial.

Management believes that any losses incurred on derivative

instruments used as a hedge would be offset by the opposite

movement of the underlying hedged item.

Interest Rate Risk: Management uses a combination of

fixed-rate and variable-rate debt to reduce interest rate expo-

sure. Interest rate swaps and rate locks may be used to adjust

exposure when deemed appropriate, based upon market condi-

tions. These strategies attempt to provide and maintain the low-

est cost of capital. The carrying amount of long-term debt was

$4.7 billion at December 31, 1998 with a fair value of $4.7 bil-

lion. The fair value of CMS Energy’s financial derivative instru-

ments at December 31, 1998, with a notional amount of

$579 million, was $15 million, representing the amount that

CMS Energy would have paid to terminate these agreements on

December 31, 1998.

Sensitivity Analysis: In accordance with SEC disclosure

requirements, CMS Energy performed a sensitivity analysis. The

analysis assesses the potential loss in fair value, cash flows and

earnings based upon hypothetical increases and decreases in

market interest rates. A hypothetical 10 percent adverse shift in

market rates in the near term would not have a material impact

on CMS Energy’s consolidated financial position, results of

operations or cash flows as of December 31, 1998. Management

does not believe that a sensitivity analysis alone provides an

accurate or reliable method for monitoring and controlling risk.

Th e re fo re, CMS Energy and its subsidiaries re ly on the ex p e r i-

ence and judgment of senior management and tra d e rs to rev i s e

s t rat egies and adjust positions as they deem necessary. Losses in

excess of the amounts determined in the sensitivity analy s i s

could occur if m a rket rates or prices exceed the 10 percent shift

used for the analy s i s. The analysis assumes that the maximu m

ex p o s u re associated with purchased options is limited to pre m i-

ums paid. The analysis assumes that the CMS Energy Trust Pre-

fe rred Securities are not conve rted into CMS Energy Common

S t o ck . I f the conve rsion occurre d , the $173 million of C M S

E n e rgy Trust Pre fe rred Securities would be disch a rged thro u g h

the issuance of 4.2 million shares of CMS Energy Common

S t o ck . The analysis also does not quantify short - t e rm ex p o s u re

to hy p o t h e t i c a l ly adve rse price flu c t u ations in inve n t o r i e s.

For a discussion of accounting policies related to derivative

transactions, see Note 8.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

CASH P OSIT ION,  I NVES TING  AND F IN ANCING

CMS Energy’s primary ongoing source of operating 

cash is dividends and distributions from subsidiaries. In 1998,

Consumers paid $241 million in common dividends. In Decem-

ber 1998, CMS Energy contributed $100 million of paid-in cap-

ital to Consumers. During 1998, Enterprises paid common

dividends and other distributions of $122 million to CMS

Energy. CMS Energy’s consolidated operating cash require-

ments are met by its operating and financing activities.

Operating Activities: CMS Energy’s consolidated net cash

provided by operating activities is derived mainly from the 

processing, storage, transportation and sale of natural gas; the

generation, transmission and sale of electricity; and the sale of

oil. Consolidated cash from operations totaled $516 million and

$624 million for 1998 and 1997, respectively. The $108 million

decrease resulted from cash outflows related to increases in

accounts receivable from and advances to affiliates, partially off-

set by an increase in consolidated net income. CMS Energy uses

its operating cash primarily to expand its international busi-

nesses, to maintain and expand electric and gas systems of Con-

sumers, to pay interest on and retire portions of its long-term

debt, and to pay dividends.

Investing Activities: CMS Energy’s consolidated net cash

used in investing activities totaled $1.634 billion and $1.551 bil-

lion for 1998 and 1997, respectively. The increase of $83 million

primarily reflects increased capital expenditures for acquisitions,

partially offset by decreased investments in partnerships and

unconsolidated subsidiaries (1997 included an approximately

$500 million investment in Loy Yang). CMS Energy’s 1998

expenditures for its utility and international businesses were

$429 million and $1.271 billion, respectively, compared to 

$371 million and $1.148 billion, respectively, during 1997.

Financing Activities: CMS Energy’s net cash provided by

financing activities totaled $1.150 billion and $938 million for

1998 and 1997, respectively. The increase of $212 million in net

cash provided by financing activities resulted from an increase

of $848 million in the issuance of new securities, partially

offset by increases in the retirement of bonds and other long-

term debt ($140 million) and the repayment of bank loans

($545 million). The following is a listing of new securities issued

during 1998.
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In January 1998, a Delaware statutory business trust estab-

lished by CMS Energy sold $180 million of certificates due 

January 15, 2005 in a public offering. In exchange for those 

proceeds, CMS Energy sold to the trust $180 million aggregate

principal amount of 7 percent Extendible Tenor Rate Adjusted

Securities due January 15, 2005, which may be extended for an

additional seven years. Net proceeds to CMS Energy from the

sale totaled $176 million.

As of December 31, 1998, CMS Energy had an aggregate

$2.3 billion in securities registered for future issuance, including

securities to be issued to permanently finance the acquisition,

as described below, of Panhandle Eastern Pipe Line Company,

Trunkline Gas Company, Pan Gas Storage Company, Panhan-

dle Storage Company and Trunkline LNG Company (Panhan-

dle Companies). CMS Energy also has $725 million senior

credit facilities (Senior Credit Facilities), unsecured lines of

credit and letters of credit as sources of funds needed to 

fulfill, in whole or in part, material commitments for capital

expenditures. For detailed information, see “Short-Term

Financings” and “Capitalization” in Notes 4 and 6, respectively,

incorporated by reference herein.
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In Millions

Distribution/ Principal
Month Issued Maturity Interest Rate Amount Use of Proceeds

CMS  E nerg y

GTNs
Series D (1) (1) 6.8%(1) $ 122 General corporate purposes
Series E (1) (1) 6.9%(1) 34 General corporate purposes

Extendible Tenor Rate 
Adjusted Securities(2) January 2005 7.0%  180 Pay down borrowings

Common Stock November N/A 4.5 shares 208 General corporate purposes

544

C o n s u m e r s

Senior Notes(3) February 2008 6.375% 250 Pay down First Mortgage
Bonds and ge n e ral corp o rate purposes

Senior Notes(3) March 2018 6.875% 225 Pay down First Mortgage
Bonds and borrowings under credit fa c i l i t i e s

Senior Notes(3) May 2008 6.2%(4) 250 Pay down First Mortgage
Bonds, long-term bank debt and general 
corporate purposes

Senior Notes(3) June 2018 6.5%(5) 200 Pay down First Mortgage
Bonds and ge n e ral corp o rate purposes

Long-Term Bank Debt May 2001–2003 6.05%(6) 225 Pay down long-term bank debt
Senior Notes(3) October 2028 6.5% 150 Pay down long-term bank debt and general 

corporate purposes

Total  $1,844 

(1) CMS Energy General Term Notes® (GTNs) are issued from time to time with varying maturity 
dates. The rate shown herein is a weighted average interest rate.
(2) May be extended for an additional seven years.
(3) The Senior Notes are secured by Consumers’ First Mortgage Bonds issued contemporaneously
in a similar amount.
(4) The interest rate may be reset in May 2003.
(5) The interest rate will be reset in June 2005.
(6) The interest rate is variable; weighted average interest rate upon original issuance was 6.05 percent.

In 1998, CMS Energy paid $129 million in cash dividends to

holders of CMS Energy Common Stock and $11 million 

in cash dividends to holders of Class G Common Stock. In 

January 1999, the Board of Directors of CMS Energy declared

a quarterly dividend of $.33 per share on CMS Energy Com-

mon Stock and $.325 per share on Class G Common Stock,

payable in February 1999.

In August 1998, CMS Energy filed a shelf registration state-

ment for the issuance of $400 million of GTNs Series E.

In December 1998, CMS Energy filed two shelf registration

statements for the issuance of $1.5 billion of CMS Energy

Common Stock and $400 million of senior and subordinated

debt securities.

In January 1999, CMS Energy received net proceeds of

approximately $473 million from the sale of $480 million of

senior notes. In February 1999, CMS Energy received net pro-

ceeds of approximately $296 million from the sale of $300 mil-

lion of senior notes. Proceeds from these offerings were used to

repay debt and for general corporate purposes.

Other Investing and Financing Mat t e rs : At December 31, 1 9 9 8 ,

the book value per share of CMS Energy Common Stock and

Class G Common Stock was $19.61 and $11.46, re s p e c t ive ly.
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CMS Energy’s Senior Credit Facilities consist of a

$600 million three-year revolving credit facility and a five-year

$125 million term loan facility. Additionally, CMS Energy has

unsecured lines of credit and letters of credit in an aggregate

amount of $216 million. These credit facilities are available to

finance working capital requirements and to pay for capital

expenditures between long-term financings. At December 31,

1998, the total amount utilized under the Senior Credit Facili-

ties was $725 million, including $57 million of contingent oblig-

ations, and under the unsecured lines of credit and letters of

credit was $147 million.

Consumers has Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

(FERC) authorization to issue securities and guarantees. Con-

sumers has a credit facility, lines of credit and a trade receivable

sale program in place as anticipated sources of funds needed to

fulfill, in whole or in part, material commitments for capital

expenditures as of December 31, 1998. For detailed informa-

tion, see “Short-Term Financings”and “Capitalization”in

Notes 4 and 6, respectively, incorporated by reference herein.

CMS Energy and its subsidiaries must redeem or retir e

$762 million of long-term debt over the three-year period end-

ing December 2001. In addition, at December 31, 1998, Con-

sumers had a recorded liability to the U.S. Department of

Energy (DOE) of $117 million, which Consumers must pay

upon the first delivery of spent nuclear fuel to the DOE.

Current federal law originally scheduled delivery of the fuel to

occur in 1998; for additional information, see “Nuclear Fuel

Cost”in Note 2.

On November 2, 1998, CMS Energy announced an agree-

ment to acquire the Panhandle Companies from Duke Energy

Corporation for a cash payment of $1.9 billion and existing

Panhandle Companies debt of $300 million. The transaction

was completed in March 1999, and will be accounted for under

the purchase method of accounting.

The acquisition of the Panhandle Companies initially was fin -

anced in part with bridge loan facilities nego t i ated with domestic

banks and in part with ap p rox i m at e ly $800 million of d ebt 

securities issued by the Panhandle Companies. CMS Energy

expects to perm a n e n t ly finance the acquisition with ex i s t i n g

a rra n gements as well as the sale of ap p rox i m at e ly $600 million of

CMS Energy Common Stock and other CMS Energy securities.

C A P I TA L EXPEND IT URES

CMS Energy estimates that capital ex p e n d i t u re s, i n cluding new

lease commitments and investments in part n e rships and uncon-

s o l i d ated subsidiaries, will total $6.8 billion over the next thre e

ye a rs. These estimates are prep a red for planning purposes and

a re subject to rev i s i o n . This total includes ap p rox i m at e ly 

$2.2 billion for the acquisition of the Panhandle Companies as

described ab ove. A substantial portion of the remaining cap i t a l

ex p e n d i t u res is expected to be sat i s fied by cash from operat i o n s.

N eve rt h e l e s s, CMS Energy will continue to eva l u ate capital mar-

kets in 1999 as a potential source of financing its subsidiaries’

i nvesting activ i t i e s.

CMS Energy estimates capital ex p e n d i t u res by business seg-

ment over the next three ye a rs as fo l l ow s :

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1999 2000 2001

Consumers electric operations
(a)(b)

$   380 $ 385 $ 385

Consumers gas operations
(a)

123 125 120

Independent power production 724 435 224

Oil and gas exploration and production 135 165 165

Natural gas transmission and storage 2,412
(c)

225 143

International energy distribution 359 100 126

Marketing, services and trading 5 15 12

Other 10 — —

$4,148 $1,450 $1,175

(a) These amounts include an attributed portion of Consumers’ antici-
pated capital expenditures for plant and equipment common to both the
electric and gas utility businesses.
(b) These amounts do not include pre l i m i n a ry estimates for capital ex p e n-
d i t u res possibly re q u i red to comply with re c e n t ly revised national air qual-
ity standards under the Clean Air A c t . For further info rm at i o n , see Note 3.
(c) Includes approximately $2.2 billion for the acquisition of the 
Panhandle Companies.

CMS Energy currently plans investments from 1999 to 2001:

(i) for oil and gas exploration and production operations, pri-

marily in North and South America, offshore West Africa and

North Africa; (ii) for independent power production operations

to pursue acquisitions and development of electric generating

plants in the United States, Latin America, Asia, Australia, the

Pacific Rim region, North Africa and the Middle East; (iii) to

continue development of nonutility natural gas storage, gather-

ing and pipeline operations of CMS Gas Transmission, both

domestic and international; (iv) to acquire, develop and expand

international energy distribution businesses; and (v) to provide

gas, electric, oil and coal marketing, risk management and

energy management services throughout the United States and

eventually worldwide.

Outlook

As the dereg u l ation and privat i z ation of the energy industry

t a kes place in the United States and intern at i o n a l ly, CMS Energy

has positioned itself to be a leading intern ational dive rs i fie d

e n e rgy company acquiring, d eveloping and operating energy

facilities and providing energy services in major wo rld grow t h

m a rke t s. CMS Energy provides a complete ra n ge of i n t e rn at i o n a l

e n e rgy ex p e rtise from energy production to consumption.
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orders which among other things identified the terms and tim-

ing for implementing electric restructuring in Michigan. C o n-

s u m e rs anticipates that it will discontinue ap p l i c ation of S FAS 71

for the generation segment of its business in the first quarter of

1999 as Consumers is now preparing to implement electric cus -

tomer direct access. According to current accounting standards,

Consumers can continue to carry its generation-related regula-

tory assets or liabilities for the part of the business being dereg-

ulated if deregulatory legislation or an MPSC rate order allows

the collection of cash flows from its regulated transmission and

distribution customers to recover these specific costs or settle

obligations. A February 1998 MPSC order allows Consumers to

fully recover its costs incurred by utilities in order to serve their

customers in a regulated monopoly environment (Transition

Costs). At December 31, 1998, Consumers had $259 million of

generation-related net regulatory assets recorded on its balance

sheet, and a net investment in generation facilities of $1.3 billion

i n cluded in electric plant and pro pe rty.

CONSUME RS GAS  G ROUP  OUTLO OK

Growth: Consumers currently anticipates gas deliveries, includ-

ing gas customer choice deliveries (excluding transportation to

the MCV Facility and off-system deliveries), to grow at an aver-

age annual rate of between one and two percent over the next

five years based primarily on a steadily growing customer base.

Actual gas deliveries in future periods may be affected by

abnormal weather, alternative energy prices, changes in compet-

itive conditions, and the level of natural gas consumption. Con-

sumers also offers a variety of energy-related services to its

customers focused upon appliance maintenance, home safety,

commodity choice and assistance to customers p u rchasing heat-

i n g, ve n t i l ation and air conditioning equipment.

Restructuring: In December 1997, the MPSC approved Con-

sumers’ application to implement a statewide three-year experi-

mental gas transportation program, eventually allowing 300,000

residential, commercial and industrial retail gas sales customers

to choose their gas supplier. For further information regarding

restructuring of the gas distribution, storage and transportation

businesses currently conducted by Consumers and Michigan

Gas Storage Company (Consumers Gas Group), see “Uncer-

tainties—Consumers Gas Group Matters—Gas Re s t ru c t u r i n g ”

in Note 3, i n c o rp o rated by re fe rence herein.

Other: Effective January 1, 1999, Consumers was allowed to

solicit Michigan Consolidated Gas Company (MichCon) and

SEMCO Energy Gas Company customers due to a three-year

experimental program ordered by the MPSC allowing cus-

tomers a choice of gas suppliers. As of February 8, 1999, Con-

sumers has signed up 650 of MichCon’s customers and 300 of

SEMCO Energy Gas Company’s customers.

I N T E R N ATI ONA L OP ERATIONS OU TLOOK

CMS Energy will continue to grow internationally by investing

in multiple projects in several countries as well as by developing

synergistic projects across its lines of business. CMS Energy

believes these integrated projects will create more opportunities

and greater value than individual investments. Also, CMS

Energy will achieve this growth through strategic partnering

where appropriate.

CMS Energy seeks to minimize operational and financial

risks when operating internationally by working with local part-

ners, utilizing multilateral financing institutions, procuring

political risk insurance and hedging foreign currency exposure

where appropriate.

CO NSUMERS’ EL ECTRIC  UTI LI TY OU TLOOK

Growth: Consumers expects average annual growth of

2.4 percent per year in electric system deliveries over the next

five years, absent the impact of restructuring on the industry

and its regulation in Michigan. Abnormal weather, changing

economic conditions, or the developing competitive market for

electricity may affect actual electric sales in future periods.

Re s t ru c t u r i n g : C o n s u m e rs ’ retail electric business is affe c ted

by competition. To meet its challenges, Consumers entered into

multi-year contracts with some of its largest industrial cus-

tomers to serve certain facilities. The Michigan Public Service

Commission (MPSC) has approved these contracts as part of

its phased introduction to competition. Certain customers have

the option of terminating their contracts early.

FERC final rules issued on April 24, 1996 (Orders 888 and

889), as amended, require utilities to provide direct access to the

interstate transmission grid for wholesale transactions. Con-

sumers and The Detroit Edison Company (Detroit Edison) dis-

agree on the effect of the orders on the Michigan Electric Power

Coordination Center pool. Consumers proposes to maintain the

benefits of the pool through at least December 2000, while

Detroit Edison contends that the pool agreement should be ter-

minated immediately. Among Consumers’alternatives in the

event of the pool being terminated would be joining an inde-

pendent system operator. FERC has indicated this preference

for structuring the operations of the electric transmission grid.

For material changes relating to the restructuring of the 

electric utility industry, see “Consumers’Electric Utility Rate 

Matters—Electric Restructuring”in Note 3, incorporated by

reference herein.

Electric Application of SFAS 71: Consumers applies utility

accounting standard, Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-

dards (SFAS) 71. At December 31, 1998, Consumers believed

that the generation segment of its business was still subject to

cost-based rate regulation due to legislative and regulatory

uncertainty about the status of Consumers’continuing obliga-

tion to provide generation service to customers. Subsequent to

year-end, Consumers received MPSC electric restructuring
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Other Matters

N EW A CC OUNTI NG  R ULES

In 1998, the American Institute of C e rt i fied Public A c c o u n t a n t s

issued Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of

Computer Softwa re Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, a n d

S t atement of Position 98-5, Rep o rting on the Costs of S t a rt - U p

A c t iv i t i e s. These statements will be effe c t ive in 1999. C M S

E n e rgy does not expect the ap p l i c ation of these standards to

m at e r i a l ly affect its financial position, liquidity or results of

o p e rat i o n s. Also in 1998, the Financial Accounting Standard s

B o a rd issued SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivat ive Instru m e n t s

and Hedging A c t iv i t i e s, wh i ch will be effe c t ive in 2000, and the

E m e rging Issues Task Fo rce published Issue 98-10, A c c o u n t i n g

for Energy Trading and Risk Management A c t iv i t i e s, wh i ch will

be effe c t ive in 1999. CMS Energy is curre n t ly studying these new

s t a n d a rds and has not yet quantified the impacts of a d o p t i n g

S FAS 133 or Issue 98-10 on its financial statements and has not

d e t e rmined the timing of or method of a d o p t i o n . H oweve r,

S FAS 133 and Issue 98-10 will increase vo l atility in earnings and

other compre h e n s ive income.

YEAR 2000 COM PUTER M ODI FI CATIONS  

CMS Energy uses software and related technologies throughout

its domestic and international businesses that the year 2000 date

change could affect and, if uncorrected, could cause CMS

Energy to, among other things, delay issuance of bills or

reports, issue inaccurate bills, report inaccurate data, incur gen-

erating plant outages, or create energy delivery uncertainties. In

1995, CMS Energy established a Year 2000 Program to ensure

the continued operation of its businesses at the turn of the cen-

tury. CMS Energy’s efforts included dividing the programs

requiring modification between critical and noncritical pro-

grams. A formal methodology was established to identify criti -

cal business functions and risk scenarios, to correct problems

identified, to develop test plans and expected results, and to test

the corrections made. CMS Energy’s Year 2000 Program

involves an aggressive, comprehensive four-phase approach,

including impact analysis, remediation, compliance review, and

monitoring/contingency planning.

The impact analysis phase includes the analysis, inventory,

prioritization and remediation plan development for all technol-

ogy essential to core business processes. The remediation phase

involves testing and implementation of remediated technology.

A mainframe test environment was established in 1997 and a

test environment for network servers and stand-alone personal

computers was established in mid-1998. All essential corporate

business systems have been, or will be, tested in these test envi-

ronments. The compliance review phase includes the assembling

of compliance documentation for each technology component

as remediation efforts are completed, and additional verification

testing of essential technology where necessary. The monitor-

ing/contingency planning phase includes compliance monitor-

ing to ensure that year 2000 problems are not reintroduced into

remediated technology, as well as the development of contin-

gency plans to address reasonably likely risk scenarios.

State of Readiness: CMS Energy is managing traditional

information technology (IT), which consists of essential busi-

ness systems such as payroll, billing and purchasing; and infra-

structure, including mainframe, wide area network, local area

networks, personal computers, radios and telephone syst e m s.

CMS Energy is also managing process control computers and

embedded systems contained in buildings, equipment and

energy supply and delivery systems.

Essential goods and services for CMS Energy are electric

fuel supply, gas fuel supply, independent electric power supplies,

facilities, electronic commerce, telecommunications network

carriers, financial institutions, purchasing vendors, and software

and hardware technology vendors. CMS Energy is addressing

the preparedness of these businesses and their risk through

readiness assessment questionnaires.

The status of CMS Energy’s Year 2000 Program by phase,

with target dates for completion and current percentage com-

plete based upon software and hardware inventory counts as of

December 31, 1998, is as follows:

Monitoring/
Impact Compliance Contingency

Analysis Remediation Review Planning 

(a) (b) (a) (b) (a) (b) (a) (b)

Electric utility 3/98 100% 6/99 78% 6/99 66% 6/99 50%

Gas utility 3/98 100% 6/99 73% 6/99 38% 6/99 10%

Independent power production 1/99 66% 9/99 44% 9/99 30% 9/99 10%

Oil and gas 1/99 97% 9/99 80% 9/99 20% 9/99 20%

Natural gas transmission 1/99 50% 9/99 75% 9/99 25% 9/99 5%

Marketing, services and trading 1/99 77% 9/99 50% 9/99 50% 9/99 10%

Essential goods and services 6/99 56% N/A N/A (c) 

(a) Target date for completion.
(b) Current percentage complete.
(c) Contingency planning for essential goods and services is incorporated into contingency planning for each segment presented.
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Cost of Re m e d i at i o n : CMS Energy expenses spending fo r

s o f t wa re modific ations as incurre d , and cap i t a l i zes and amor-

t i zes the cost for new softwa re and equipment over its useful

l i fe. The total estimated cost of the Year 2000 Program is

ap p rox i m at e ly $30 million. Costs incurred through December

3 1 , 1998 we re ap p rox i m at e ly $16 million. CMS Energy ’s

a n nual Year 2000 Program costs have rep resented ap p rox i-

m at e ly 2 percent to 10 percent of CMS Energy ’s annual IT

bu d get through 1998 and are expected to rep resent ap p rox i-

m at e ly 25 percent of CMS Energy ’s annual IT bu d get in 1999.

Year 2000 compliance wo rk is being funded primarily fro m

o p e rat i o n s. To dat e, the commitment of CMS Energy re s o u rc e s

to the year 2000 issue has not defe rred any material IT pro j e c t s

wh i ch could have a material adve rse affect on CMS Energy ’s

financial position, liquidity or results of o p e rat i o n s.

Risk Assessment: CMS Energy considers the most reason-

ably likely worst-case scenarios to be: (i) a lack of communi-

cations to dispatch crews to electric or gas emergencies; (ii) a

lack of communications to generating units to balance electri -

cal load; (iii) power shortages due to the lack of stability of

the electric grid; and (iv) a failure of fuel suppliers to deliver

fuel to generating facilities. These scenarios could result in

CMS Energy not being able to generate or distribute enough

energy to meet customer demand for a period of time, which

could result in lost sales and profits, as well as legal liability.

Year 2000 remediation and testing efforts are concentrating on

these risk areas and will continue through the end of 1999.

Contingency plans will be revised and executed to further mit-

igate the risks associated with these scenarios.

C o n t i n ge n cy Plans: C o n t i n ge n cy planning effo rts are 

c u rre n t ly underway for all business systems and prov i d e rs of

essential goods and serv i c e s. E x t e n s ive continge n cy plans are

a l re a dy in place in many locations and are curre n t ly being

revised for re a s o n ably like ly wo rst-case scenarios re l ated to ye a r

2000 issues. In many cases, C o n s u m e rs alre a dy has arra n gem e n t s

with multiple ve n d o rs of similar goods and services so that in

the event that one cannot meet its commitments, o t h e rs may be

able to. C u rrent continge n cy plans provide for manual dispat ch-

ing of c rews and manual coord i n ation of electrical load balanc-

ing and are being revised to provide for radio or sat e l l i t e

c o m mu n i c at i o n s. C o o rd i n ated continge n cy planning effo rts are

in progress with third parties to minimize risk to electric

ge n e rat i o n , t ransmission and distribution systems.

Expectations: CMS Energy does not expect that the cost of

these modifications will materially affect its financial position,

liquidity or results of operations. There can be no guarantee,

however, that these costs, plans or time estimates will be

achieved, and actual results could differ materially.

Because of the integrated nat u re of CMS Energy ’s bu s i n e s s

with other energy companies, u t i l i t i e s, j o i n t ly owned fa c i l i t i e s

o p e rated by other entities, and business conducted with suppli-

e rs and large customers, CMS Energy may be indire c t ly

a ffected by year 2000 compliance complicat i o n s. At this time,

CMS Energy is unable to anticipate the magnitude of the oper-

ational or financial impact of year 2000 issues on CMS Energy.

FO REI GN CU RRENC Y TR ANSLATI ON 

CMS Energy adjusts common stock h o l d e rs ’ equity to re flect fo r-

eign curre n cy tra n s l ation adjustments for the operation of l o n g -

t e rm investments in fo reign countries. The adjustment is

p r i m a r i ly due to the exch a n ge rate flu c t u ations between the U. S.

dollar and each of the Au s t ralian dollar and Brazilian re a l . Fro m

Ja nu a ry 1, 1998 through December 31, 1 9 9 8 , the ch a n ge in the

fo reign curre n cy tra n s l ation adjustment totaled $40 million, n e t

o f a f t e r-tax hedging pro c e e d s. Although management curre n t ly

b e l i eves that the curre n cy exch a n ge rate flu c t u ations over the long

t e rm will not mat e r i a l ly adve rs e ly affect CMS Energy ’s fin a n c i a l

p o s i t i o n , liquidity or results of o p e rat i o n s, CMS Energy has

h e d ged its ex p o s u re to the Au s t ralian dollar and the Bra z i l i a n

re a l . CMS Energy uses fo r wa rd exch a n ge contracts and collare d

options to hedge certain re c e ivabl e s, p ayabl e s, l o n g - t e rm debt and

equity value re l ating to fo reign inve s t m e n t s. The notional amount

o f the outstanding fo reign exch a n ge contracts was $736 million

at December 31, 1 9 9 8 , wh i ch includes $450 million and $250 mil-

lion for Au s t ralian and Brazilian fo reign exch a n ge contra c t s,

re s p e c t ive ly. Subsequent to December 31, 1 9 9 8 , the fair value of

the Brazilian fo reign exch a n ge contracts increased signific a n t ly, a s

the Brazilian real we a kened against the U. S. d o l l a r.

Forward-Looking Statements

This A n nual Rep o rt contains fo r wa rd-looking statements as

d e fined by the Private Securities Litigation Re fo rm Act of 1 9 9 5 .

The wo rds “anticipat e s,” “ b e l i eve s,” “ e s t i m at e s,” “ ex p e c t s,”

“ i n t e n d s,” and “plans,” as well as va r i ations of s u ch wo rds and

similar ex p re s s i o n s, a re intended to identify fo r wa rd-looking stat e-

ments that invo l ve risk and uncert a i n t y. These statements are nec-

e s s a r i ly based upon various assumptions involving judgments with

respect to the future incl u d i n g, among others, the ability to ach i eve

o p e rating synergies and reve nue enhancements; i n t e rn at i o n a l ,

n at i o n a l , regional and local economic, c o m p e t i t ive and reg u l at o ry

conditions and deve l o p m e n t s ;c apital and financial market condi-

t i o n s, i n cluding curre n cy exch a n ge controls and interest rat e s ;

we ather conditions; a dve rse reg u l at o ry or legal decisions, i n cl u d i n g

e nv i ronmental laws and reg u l at i o n s ; the pace of d e reg u l ation of

the nat u ral gas and electric industries; e n e rgy marke t s, i n cl u d i n g

the timing and extent of ch a n ges in commodity prices for oil, c o a l ,

n at u ral ga s, n at u ral gas liquids, electricity and certain re l ated pro d-

u c t s ; the timing and success of business development effo rt s ;

potential disru p t i o n , ex p ro p r i ation or interruption of facilities or

o p e rations due to accidents or political eve n t s ; nu clear power and

other tech n o l ogical deve l o p m e n t s ; and other uncert a i n t i e s, all of

wh i ch are difficult to predict and many of wh i ch are beyond the

c o n t rol of CMS Energy. A c c o rd i n gly, while CMS Energy believe s

t h at the assumed results are re a s o n abl e, t h e re can be no assura n c e

t h at they will ap p rox i m ate actual re s u l t s. CMS Energy discl a i m s

a ny obl i gation to update or revise fo r wa rd-looking stat e m e n t s,

whether as a result of n ew info rm at i o n ,f u t u re events or otherwise.

C e rtain risk fa c t o rs are detailed from time to time in various publ i c

filings made by CMS E n e rgy with the SEC.

Management’s Discussion Continued
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Consolidated Statements of Income 

In Millions, Except Per Share Amounts

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

O perat ing  R evenu e Electric utility $2,606 $2,515 $2,446
Gas utility 1,051 1,204 1,282
Independent power production( a ) 277 168 140
Natural gas transmission, storage and processing( a ) 160 96 53
Oil and gas exploration and production 63 93 130
Marketing, services and trading( a ) 939 692 258
Other( a ) 45 13 15

5,141 4,781 4,324

Operat i ng  E xpenses Operation
Fuel for electric generation 359 319 312
Purchased power—related parties 573 599 589
Purchased and interchange power 584 265 202
Cost of gas sold 1,212 1,311 997
Other 763 719 742

3,491 3,213 2,842
Maintenance 176 174 178
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 484 467 427
General taxes 215 211 201

4,366 4,065 3,648

P ret a x Op erat ing Electric utility 475 432 411
Incom e (Loss) Gas utility 126 153 158

Independent power production 144 96 68
Natural gas transmission, storage and processing 33 27 17
Oil and gas exploration and production 6 26 33
Marketing, services and trading 4 (5) 2
Other (13) (13) (13)

775 716 676

O ther I n come Loss on MCV power purchases (37) — —
( D e d u c t i o n s ) Accretion income 6 8 10

Accretion expense (16) (17) (22)
Other, net 1 (3) 1

(46) (12) (11)

Fixed  Ch ar ges Interest on long-term debt 318 273 230
Other interest 47 49 43
Capitalized interest (29) (13) (5)
Preferred dividends 19 25 28
Trust Preferred Securities distributions 32 18 8

387 352 304

In com e Before Incom e Ta x e s 342 352 361
Incom e Ta x e s 100 108 137

Cons olid ated Net  In come b efore Cumu lat iv e Eff e c t
of Cha nge  in Ac count ing  Princi ple 242 244 224

Cum ul at ive Effe ct o f  Chan ge  i n Acc oun ti ng f or Property  Taxes,  Net of $ 23  Ta x 43 — —

Consol i dated  Net Incom e $  285 $  244 $  224

Net In come A tt r ibu table to  Com mo n Stoc ks CMS Energy $  272 $  229 $  210
Class G $ 13 $ 15 $ 14

B asic  E arn ings Per Av era ge Co mmon  S hare CMS Energy $ 2.65 $ 2.39 $ 2.27
Class G $ 1.56 $ 1.84 $ 1.82

D il ut ed E ar nings P er  Averag e Co mmon Share CMS Energy $ 2.62 $ 2.37 $ 2.26
Class G $ 1.56 $ 1.84 $ 1.82

D iv ide nd s Dec lared Pe r Commo n Sh are CMS Energy $ 1.26 $ 1.14 $ 1.02
Class G $ 1.27 $ 1.21 $ 1.15

(a) Does not include reve nue associated with CMS’ i n t e rests in unconsolidated part n e rs h i p s. Fo r 19 9 8 , 1997 and 19 9 6 ,t h at reve nue totaled $761 million,
$621 million and $493 m i l l i o n , re s p e c t ive ly, for independent power pro d u c t i o n ; and $67 million, $51 million and $42 million, re s p e c t ive ly, for nat u ral 
gas tra n s m i s s i o n ,s t o rage and pro c e s s i n g ; and $198 million, $ 3 9 million and $22 million, re s p e c t ive ly, for intern ational energy distribu t i o n , wh i ch is
rep o rted in Other. Fo r 1998 and 19 97, t h at reve nue totaled $291 million and $202 m i l l i o n , re s p e c t ive ly, for marke t i n g, s e rvices and tra d i n g.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these stat e m e n t s.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

In Millions

December 31 1998 1997

ASSETS

P lan t and Pro p e r t y Electric $ 6,720 $ 6,491
(a t  co st ) Gas 2,701 2,528

Oil and gas properties (successful efforts method) 670 545
Independent power production 518 122
Other 373 46

10,982 9,732
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion

and amortization 5,213 4,849

5,769 4,883
Construction work-in-progress 271 261

6,040 5,144

I n v e s t m e n t s Independent power production 888 792
Natural gas transmission, storage and processing 494 241
International energy distribution 209 255
First Midland Limited Partnership 240 242
Midland Cogeneration Venture Limited Partnership 209 171
Other 33 45

2,073 1,746

C u r rent  Asset s Cash and temporary cash investments at cost, which
approximates market 101 69

Accounts receivable and accrued revenue, less allowances
of $13 in 1998 and $7 in 1997 720 495

Inventories at average cost
Gas in underground storage 219 197
Materials and supplies 99 87
Generating plant fuel stock 43 35

Deferred income taxes — 38
Prepayments and other 225 235

1,407 1,156

N o n - c u r rent A ssets Nuclear decommissioning trust funds 557 486
Postretirement benefits 373 404
Abandoned Midland project 71 93
Other 789 479

1,790 1,462

Total  A ssets $ 11,310 $ 9,508

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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In Millions

December 31 1998 1997

STOCKHOLDERS’INVESTMENT AND LIABILITIES

C api tal izat i on Common stockholders’equity $ 2,216 $ 1,787
Preferred stock of subsidiary 238 238
Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable
Trust Preferred Securities of:

Consumers Power Company Financing I(a) 100 100
Consumers Energy Company Financing II (a) 120 120

Company-obligated convertible Trust Preferred Securities of
CMS Energy Trust I (b) 173 173

Long-term debt 4,726 3,272
Non-current portion of capital leases 105 75

7,678 5,765

C u r rent  Li abi l i t ie s Current portion of long-term debt and capital leases 293 643
Notes payable 328 382
Accounts payable 501 398
Accrued taxes 272 272
Accounts payable—related parties 79 80
Accrued interest 65 51
Power purchases 47 47
Accrued refunds 11 12
Other 214 190

1,810 2,075

N o n - c u r ren t Liab i l i t ies Deferred income taxes 649 648
Postretirement benefits 489 514
Deferred investment tax credit 135 151
Power purchases 121 133
Regulatory liabilities for income taxes, net 87 54
Other 341 168

1,822 1,668

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 2, 3 and 13)

Total  S tockhol ders’  Inve stmen t and Li abil i t ies $ 11,310 $ 9,508

(a) The primary asset of Consumers Power Company Financing I is $103 million principal amount of 8.36 percent subordinated deferrable interest
notes due 2015 from Consumers. The primary asset of Consumers Energy Company Financing II is $124 million principal amount of 8.20 percent sub-
ordinated deferrable interest notes due 2027 from Consumers. For further discussion, see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(b) As described in Note 6, the primary asset of CMS Energy Trust I is $178 million principal amount of 7.75 percent convertible subordinated deben-
tures due 2027 from CMS Energy.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Cash Fl ows Fro m Consolidated net income $ 285 $ 244 $    224
Operat i ng  A ctiv i t ie s Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities
Depreciation, depletion and amortization (includes nuclear 

decommissioning of $51, $50 and $49, respectively) 484 467 427
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credit 54 24 45
Capital lease and debt discount amortization 51 44 41
Loss on MCV power purchases 37 — —
Accretion expense 16 17 22
Accretion income—abandoned Midland project (6) (8) (10)
Undistributed earnings of related parties (95) (58) (55)
Cumulative effect of accounting change for property taxes (66) — —
MCV power purchases (64) (62) (63)
Other 6 (9) 27
Changes in other assets and liabilities (186) (35) (11)

Net cash provided by operating activities 516 624 647

C ash Flows Fro m Capital expenditures (excludes capital lease additions of
Inv est in g Acti vi t ies $60, $11 and $31, respectively and DSM) (1,295) (678) (643)

Investments in partnerships and unconsolidated subsidiaries (345) (830) (163)
Cost to retire property, net (83) (46) (31)
Other 32 (46) (47)
Acquisition of companies, net of cash acquired — — (20)
Proceeds from sale of property 57 49 79

Net cash used in investing activities (1,634) (1,551) (825)

Cash Fl ow s Fro m Proceeds from bank loans, notes and bonds 2,348 1,214 433
Finan cin g Activ i ti es Issuance of Common Stock 269 224 95

Proceeds from Trust Preferred Securities — 286 97
Retirement of bonds and other long-term debt (661) (521) (37)
Repayment of bank loans (574) (29) (256)
Payment of Common Stock dividends (140) (119) (103)
Increase (decrease) in notes payable, net (53) 49 (8)
Payment of capital lease obligations (36) (44) (40)
Retirement of Common Stock (3) (2) (1)
Retirement of preferred stock — (120) —

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,150 938 180

N et  Incre ase in Ca sh and Tem porary Ca sh I nv estm ents 32 11 2
Cash and temporary cash investments

Beginning of year 69 58 56

End of year $ 101 $      69 $      58

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Optional
Redemption Number of Shares In Millions

December 31 Series Price 1998 1997 1998 1997

C onsumers’  P re f e r red Stock
Cumulative, $100 par value,

authorized 7,500,000 shares,
with no mandatory redemption $4.16 $103.25 68,451 68,451 $ 7 $ 7

4.50 110.00 373,148 373,148 37 37

Consu mers’  Clas s A  Pre f e r red Stoc k
Cumulative, no par value,

authorized 16,000,000 shares,
with no mandatory redemption 2.08 25.00 (a) 8,000,000 8,000,000 194 194

Total  Pre f e r red Sto ck $238 $238

(a) Redeemable beginning April 1, 1999.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Common Stockholders’ Equity

Number of Shares, In Thousands In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

Common Stock
At beginning and end of period $ 1 $ 1 $ 1

Oth er Pai d-i n Capi tal—CMS En ergy
At beginning of period 100,792 94,813 91,594 2,131 1,916 1,827
Common stock reacquired (72) (54) (32) (3) (2) (1)
Common stock issued 7,383 6,031 3,248 324 217 90
Common stock reissued 1 2 3 — — —

At end of period 108,104 100,792 94,813 2,452 2,131 1,916

Oth er Pai d-in Capi tal—Cl ass G
At beginning of period 8,219 7,877 7,619 136 129 124
Common stock reacquired (1) (1) — — — —
Common stock issued 235 343 258 6 7 5

At end of period 8,453 8,219 7,877 142 136 129

Re val ua t ion C apital
At beginning of period (6) (6) (8)
Change in unrealized 

investment— gain (loss) (a) (3) — 2

At end of period (9) (6) (6)

F o re ign Cu rrency Tr a n s l a t i o n
At beginning of period (96) — —
Change in foreign currency translation (a) (40) (96) —

At end of period (136) (96) —

Reta in ed Ear ni ng s ( Def i cit )
At beginning of period (379) (504) (625)
Consolidated net income (a) 285 244 224
Common stock dividends declared:

CMS Energy (129) (109) (94)
Class G (11) (10) (9)

At end of period (234) (379) (504)

Total  Co mm on Sto ckholde rs’  E qui ty $ 2,216 $ 1,787 $ 1,536

(a) Disclosure of Comprehensive Income:
Revaluation capital 

unrealized investment—gain (loss), net of tax of $2,$0 and $0, respectively $  (3) $  — $ 2
Foreign currency translation (40) (96) —
Consolidated net income 285 244 224

Total Consolidated Comprehensive Income $ 242 $ 148 $ 226

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Preferred Stock



1 : C O R P O R AT E S TRUCTURE

CMS Energy Corporation (CMS Energy) is the parent holding

company of Consumers Energy Company (Consumers) and

CMS Enterprises Company (Enterprises). Consumers, a combi-

nation electric and gas utility company serving the Lower

Peninsula of Michigan, is the principal subsidiary of CMS

Energy. Enterprises is engaged in several domestic and interna-

tional energy-related businesses including: acquisition, develop-

ment and operation of independent power production facilities;

oil and gas exploration and production; transmission, storage,

and processing of natural gas; energy marketing, services and

trading; and international energy distribution.

2 : S U M M A RY  OF  S IGNI FIC AN T ACCOUN T IN G POLI CI ES 
AND OTHER MAT T E R S

Basis of P re s e n t at i o n : The consolidated financial stat e m e n t s

i n clude CMS Energy, C o n s u m e rs and Enterprises and their

majority owned subsidiaries. The financial statements are 

p rep a red in confo rmity with ge n e ra l ly accepted accounting prin-

ciples and use manage m e n t ’s estimates wh e re ap p ro p r i at e. A ffil i-

ated companies (more than 20 percent but less than a majority

ow n e rship interest) are accounted for by the equity method.

Change in Method of Accounting for Investments in Oil and

Gas Pro p e rt i e s : CMS Oil and Gas Company (CMS Oil and Gas)

(formerly CMS NOMECO Oil & Gas Co.) elected to convert,

effective January 1, 1998, from the full cost method to the suc-

cessful efforts method of accounting for its investments in oil

and gas properties. CMS Oil and Gas believes this accounting

change will more accurately present the results of its explo-

ration and development activities and minimize asset write-offs

caused by periodic price swings, which may not be representa-

tive of overall or long-term markets. In addition, the Financial

Accounting Standards Board has stated a preference for the use

of successful efforts accounting. Nitrotec Corporation

(Nitrotec), in which CMS Gas Transmission and Storage Com-

pany (CMS Gas Transmission) has an equity investment, also

elected to convert, effective January 1, 1998, from the full cost

method of accounting to the successful efforts method of

accounting. Accordingly, all prior period financial statements

presented have been restated to conform with successful efforts

accounting. The effect, after tax, of the change in accounting

method as of December 31, 1997, was a reduction to retained

earnings of $175 million for CMS Oil and Gas and $15 million

for CMS Gas Transmission, primarily attributable to a decrease

in CMS Oil and Gas’net plant and property and deferred tax

liability of $270 million and $95 million, respectively, and a 

$15 million decrease in CMS Gas Transmission’s equity invest-

ment in Nitrotec.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

C h a n ge in Method of Accounting for Pro p e rty Ta xe s : D u r i n g

the first quarter of 1 9 9 8 , C o n s u m e rs implemented a ch a n ge in

the method of accounting for pro p e rty taxes so that such taxe s

a re re c og n i zed during the fiscal period of the taxing authority

for wh i ch the taxes are lev i e d . This ch a n ge better mat ch e s

p ro p e rty tax expense with the services provided by the taxing

a u t h o r i t i e s, and is considered the most accep t able basis of

re c o rding pro p e rty taxe s. Prior to 1998, C o n s u m e rs re c o rd e d

property taxes monthly during the year following the assessment

d ate (December 31). The cumu l at ive effect of this one-time

ch a n ge in accounting increased other income by $66 million,

and earn i n g s, net of t a x , by $43 million or $.40 per share. Th e

p ro fo rma effect on prior ye a rs ’ c o n s o l i d ated net income of

re t ro a c t ive ly re c o rding pro p e rty taxes as if the new method of

accounting had been in effect for all periods presented is not

m at e r i a l .

A c c retion Income and Expense: In 1991, the Mich i gan Publ i c

S e rvice Commission (MPSC) allowed Consumers to re c over a

p o rtion of its abandoned Midland investment over a 10-ye a r

p e r i o d , but did not allow Consumers to earn a re t u rn on that

a m o u n t . C o n s u m e rs reduced the re c ove rable investment to the

p resent value of the future re c ove r i e s. During the re c ove ry

p e r i o d , C o n s u m e rs adjusts the unre c ove red asset to its pre s e n t

va l u e. It re flects this adjustment as accretion income. C o n-

ve rs e ly, C o n s u m e rs re c o rded a loss in 1992 for the present va l u e

o f its estimated future underre c overies of p ower costs re s u l t i n g

f rom purchases from the Midland Coge n e ration Ve n t u re Lim-

ited Pa rt n e rship (MCV Pa rt n e rship) (see Note 3). It now re c og-

n i zes accretion expense annu a l ly to re flect the time value of

m o n ey on the re c o rded loss.

Gas Inventory: Consumers uses the weighted average cost

method for valuing working gas inventory. It records cushion

gas, which is gas stored to maintain reservoir pressure for recov-

ery of working gas, in the appropriate gas utility plant account.

Consumers stores gas inventory in its underground storage

facilities.

Maintenance, Depreciation and Depletion: Consumers

charges property repairs and minor property replacements 

to maintenance expense. Depreciable property retired or sold,

plus cost of removal (net of salvage credits), is charged to accu-

mulated depreciation. Consumers bases depreciation provisions

for utility plant on straight-line and units-of-production rates

approved by the MPSC. The composite depreciation rate for

electric utility property was 3.5 percent for 1998, 3.6 percent 

for 1997 and 3.5 percent for 1996. The composite rate for gas
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N u clear Plant Decommissioning: C o n s u m e rs collected $51 mil-

lion in 1998 from its electric customers for decommissioning of

its two nu clear plants. Amounts collected from electric retail 

c u s t o m e rs and deposited in trusts (including trust earnings) 

a re credited to accumu l ated dep re c i at i o n . In 1996, C o n s u m e rs

re c e ive d a d e c o m m i s s i o n i n g o rd e r f ro mt h e M P S C t h at e s t i m at e d

decommissioning costs for Big Ro ck Point nu clear power plant

(Big Ro ck) and Palisades nu clear power plant (Palisades) to be

$344 million and $599 million (in 1998 dollars ) , re s p e c t ive ly.

C o n s u m e rs filed with the MPSC in March 1998 site-specific

decommissioning cost estimates for Big Ro ck and Pa l i s a d e s,

assuming that each plant site will eve n t u a l ly be re s t o red to con-

fo rm with the adjacent landscap e, and that all contaminat e d

equipment will be disassembled and disposed of in a licensed

burial fa c i l i t y. The revised estimated decommissioning costs fo r

Big Ro ck and Palisades are $304 million and $541 million (in

1998 dollars ) , re s p e c t ive ly. The decreases in cost from prev i o u s

e s t i m ates are principally due to the Big Ro ck immediate disman-

tlement and reductions in decommissioning costs. C o n s u m e rs

has determined that the current decommissioning surch a rge will

be sufficient to provide for decommissioning of its nu clear plants

and anticipates a new MPSC order in early 1999. After re t i re-

ment of Pa l i s a d e s, C o n s u m e rs plans to maintain the facility in

p ro t e c t ive storage if ra d i o a c t ive waste disposal facilities are not

ava i l abl e. C o n s u m e rs will incur most of the Palisades decommis-

sioning costs after the plant’s Nuclear Reg u l at o ry Commission

( N RC) operating license ex p i re s. When the Pa l i s a d e s ’N RC

license ex p i res in 2007, the trust funds are curre n t ly estimated 

to have accumu l ated $719 million. C o n s u m e rs estimates that at

the time Palisades is fully decommissioned in the year 2046, t h e

t rust funds will have provided $1.9 billion, i n cluding trust earn-

i n g s, over this decommissioning period. At December 31, 1 9 9 8 ,

C o n s u m e rs had an investment in nu clear decommissioning tru s t

f u n d so f $ 3 7 6m i l l i o n fo r Pa l i s a d e sa n d $ 1 8 1m i l l i o n fo rB i g Ro ck .

Big Rock was closed permanently in 1997 because manage-

ment determined that it would be uneconomical to operate in

an increasingly competitive environment. The plant was origi-

nally scheduled to close on May 31, 2000, at the end of the

plant’s operating license. The MPSC has allowed Consumers to

continue collecting decommissioning surcharges through

December 31, 2000. Plant decommissioning began in 1997 and

may take five to ten years to return the site to its original condi-

tion. Consumers has spent $75 million for the decommissioning

and withdrew $68 million from the Big Rock nuclear decommis-

sioning trust fund.

Reclassifications: CMS Energy has reclassified certain prior

year amounts for comparative purposes. These reclassifications

did not affect consolidated net income for the years presented.

utility plant was 4.2 percent for 1998, 4.1 percent for 1997 and

4.2 percent for 1996. The composite rate for other plant and

property was 7.4 percent for 1998, 8.2 percent for 1997 and 

5.5 percent for 1996.

CMS Oil and Gas fo l l ows the successful effo rts method 

o f accounting for its investments in oil and gas pro p e rt i e s.

CMS Oil and Gas cap i t a l i zes the costs of p ro p e rty acquisitions,

successful ex p l o rat o ry we l l s, all development costs, and support

equipment and facilities when incurre d . It expenses unsuccessful

ex p l o rat o ry wells when they are determined to be non-pro d u c t ive.

CMS Oil and Gas also ch a rges to expense production costs,

ove r h e a d , and all ex p l o ration costs other than ex p l o rat o ry

drilling as incurre d . D ep re c i at i o n , d epletion and amort i z ation of

p roved oil and gas pro p e rties is determined on a fie l d - by - fie l d

basis using the units-of-production method over the life of t h e

remaining proved re s e rve s.

Other nonutility depreciable property is amortized over its

estimated useful life; gains and losses are recognized at the time

of sale.

Nuclear Fuel Cost: Consumers amortizes nuclear fuel cost 

to fuel expense based on the quantity of heat produced for 

electric generation. Interest on leased nuclear fuel is expensed 

as incurred. Under current federal law, as confirmed by court

decision, the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) was to begin

accepting deliveries of spent nuclear fuel by January 31, 1998

for disposal. For fuel used after April 6, 1983, Consumers

charges disposal costs to nuclear fuel expense, recovers them

through electric rates and remits to the DOE quarterly. Con-

sumers elected to defer payment for disposal of spent nuclear

fuel burned before April 7, 1983. At December 31, 1998, Con-

sumers had a recorded liability to the DOE of $117 million,

including interest, which is payable upon the first delivery of

spent nuclear fuel to the DOE. Consumers recovered through

electric rates the amount of this liability, excluding a portion of

interest. In January 1997, in response to the DOE’s declaration

that it would not begin to accept spent nuclear fuel deliveries 

in 1998, Consumers and other utilities filed suit in federal court.

A decision was issued by the court in late 1997 affirming the

DOE’s duty to take delivery of spent fuel, but was not specific

as to the relief available for failure of the DOE to comply.

Further litigation brought by Consumers and others in 1998 

is intended to produce specific monetary relief for the DOE’s

failure to comply. In January 1999, federal legislation was rein-

troduced in the House of Representatives to clarify the timing

of the DOE’s obligation to accept spent nuclear fuel and to

direct the DOE to establish an integrated spent fuel manage-

ment system that includes designing and constructing an

interim storage facility in Nevada. Similar legislation is

expected to be reintroduced in the Senate.
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Related-Party Transactions: In 1998, 1997 and 1996, Con-

sumers purchased $51 million, $51 million and $50 million,

respectively, of electric generating capacity and energy from

affiliates of Enterprises. Affiliates of CMS Energy sold, stored

and transported natural gas and provided other services to the

MCV Partnership totaling $21 million, $21 million and $17 mil-

lion for 1998, 1997 and 1996. For additional discussion of

related-party transactions with the MCV Partnership and the

First Midland Limited Partnership (FMLP), see Notes 3 and

18. Other related-party transactions are immaterial.

Utility Regulation: Consumers accounts for the effects of

regulation based on a regulated utility accounting standard

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 71. As a

result, the actions of regulators affect when revenues, expenses,

assets and liabilities are recognized. SFAS 121 imposes stricter

criteria for retention of regulatory-created assets by requiring

that such assets be probable of future recovery at each balance

sheet date. Management believes these assets will be recovered.

The following regulatory assets (liabilities), which include

both current and non-current amounts, are reflected in the Con-

solidated Balance Sheets. These costs are being recovered

through rates over periods of up to 14 years.

In Millions

December 31 1998 1997

Postretirement benefits (Note 12) $ 397 $ 429

Income taxes (Note 9) 148 172

Abandoned Midland project 71 93

Manufactured gas plant sites (Note 3) 48 47

DSM—deferred costs 32 46

Uranium enrichment facility 20 22

Other 38 28

Total regulatory assets $ 754 $ 837

Income taxes (Note 9) $(235) $(226)

DSM—deferred revenue (24) (24)

Total regulatory liabilities $(259) $(250)

Consumers anticipates that it will discontinue application of

SFAS 71 for the generation segment of its business in the first

quarter of 1999 as Consumers is now preparing to implement

electric customer direct access.

Implementation of New Accounting Standards: In 1998 CMS

Energy implemented SFAS 130, Reporting Comprehensive

Income, SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise

and Related Information, and SFAS 132, Employers’ Disclosures

about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits. SFAS 130

establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehen-

sive income and its components. Equity adjustments related to

unrealized investment gains and losses (net of tax) and foreign

currency translation, along with consolidated net income, com-

prise comprehensive income. SFAS 131 and 132 require

expanded disclosure concerning segments of an enterprise and

pension and other postretirement benefits.

Notes Continued

Foreign Currency Translation: Foreign currency translation

adjustments relating to the operation of CMS Energy’s long-

term investments in foreign countries are included in common

stockholders’equity. For the year ended December 31, 1998, the

change in the foreign currency translation adjustment totaled

$40 million, net of after-tax hedging proceeds.

Other: For significant accounting policies regarding cash

equivalents, see Note 16; for income taxes, see Note 9; for exec-

utive incentive compensation, see Note 11; and for pensions and

other postretirement benefits, see Note 12.

3 : U N C E RTA I N T I E S

C o n s u m e rs ’ Electric Utility Continge n c i e s

Electric Environmental Matters: The federal Clean Air Act, as

amended (Clean Air Act), limits emissions of sulfur dioxide and

nitrogen oxides and requires emissions and air quality monitor-

ing. Consumers currently operates within these limits and meets

current emission requirements. The Clean Air Act requires 

the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to periodically

review the effectiveness of the national air quality standards in

preventing adverse health effects, and in 1997 the EPA revised

these standards. It is probable that the 1997 standards will result

in further limitations on small particulate-related emissions.

I nS ep t e m b e r1 9 9 8 ,b a s e d u p o n the 1997 s t a n d a rd s, t h eE PA

A d m i n i s t rator signed final reg u l ations requiring the State of

M i ch i gan to further limit nitrogen oxide emissions. Fo s s i l - f u e l e d

e m i t t e rs, s u ch as Consumers ’ ge n e rating units, can anticipate a

reduction in nitrogen oxide emissions by 2003 to only 32 percent of

l evels allowed for the year 2000. The State of M i ch i gan has one

year to submit an implementation plan. The State of M i ch i gan has

filed a lawsuit objecting to the extent of the re q u i red emission

re d u c t i o n s. It is unlike ly that the State of M i ch i gan will establ i s h

C o n s u m e rs ’n i t rogen oxide emissions reduction target until mid-to-

l ate 1999. Until this target is establ i s h e d , the estimated cost of

compliance discussed below is subject to rev i s i o n .I f a court we re

to order the EPA to adopt the State of M i ch i ga n’s position, c o m-

pliance costs could be less than the pre l i m i n a ry estimated amounts.

The preliminary estimate of capital expenditures to reduce

nitrogen oxide-related emissions for Consumers’ fossil-fueled

generating units is approximately $290 million, plus $10 million

per year for operation and maintenance costs. Consumers antic-

ipates that these capital expenditures will be incurred between

1999 and 2003. Consumers may need an equivalent amount of

capital expenditures and operation and maintenance costs to

comply with the new small particulate standards.
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C o n s u m e rs ’ Electric Utility Rate Mat t e rs

Electric Proceedings: In 1996, the MPSC issued a final order

that authorized Consumers to recover costs associated with the

purchase of the additional 325 megawatts (MW) of the natural

gas-fueled, combined-cycle cogeneration facility (MCV Facility)

capacity (see “Power Purchases from the MCV Partnership”in

this Note) and to recover its nuclear plant investment by

increasing prospective annual nuclear plant depreciation

expense by $18 million, with a corresponding decrease in fossil-

fueled generating plant depreciation expense. It also established

an experimental direct-access program. Customers having a

maximum demand of 2 MW or greater are eligible to purchase

generation services directly from any eligible third-party power

supplier and Consumers will transmit the power for a fee. The

direct-access program is limited to 134 MW of load. In accor-

dance with the MPSC order, Consumers held a lottery in April

1997 to select the customers to participate in the direct-access

program. Subsequently, direct access for a portion of this 134

MW began in late 1997. The program was substantially filled 

by mid-January 1999 and Consumers expects the remaining

amount to begin by the end of the first quarter of 1999.

In January 1998, the Michigan Court of Appeals (Court of

Appeals) affirmed an MPSC conclusion that the MPSC has

statutory authority to authorize an experimental electric retail

wheeling program. No retail wheeling has yet occurred pur-

suant to that program. In October 1998, the Michigan Supreme

Court issued an order granting Consumers’ application for leave

to appeal. A decision by the Michigan Supreme Court in this

matter may be issued in mid-1999.

Electric Restructuring: As part of ongoing proceedings relat-

ing to the restructuring of the electric utility industry in Michi-

gan, the MPSC in June 1997 issued an order proposing that

beginning January 1, 1998 Consumers transmit and distribute

energy on behalf of competing power suppliers to retail cus-

tomers. Further restructuring orders issued in late 1997 and

early 1998 provide for: (i) recovery of costs incurred by utilities

in order to serve their customers in a regulated monopoly envi-

ronment of $1.755 billion through a charge to all customers

purchasing their power from other sources until the end of the

transition period in 2007, subject to an adjustment through a

true-up mechanism; (ii) commencement of the phase-in of
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Consumers’coal-fueled electric generating units burn low-

sulfur coal and are currently operating at or near the sulfur

dioxide emission limits that will be effective in the year 2000.

During the past few years, in order to comply with the Clean

Air Act, Consumers incurred capital expenditures totaling 

$55 million to install equipment at certain generating units.

Consumers estimates an additional $16 million of capital

expenditures for ongoing and proposed modifications at the

remaining coal-fueled units to meet year 2000 requirements.

Management believes that these expenditures will not materially

affect Consumers’ annual operating costs.

Under the Michigan Natural Resources and Environmental

Protection Act, Consumers expects that it will ultimately incur

investigation and remedial action costs at a number of sites.

Nevertheless, it believes that these costs are properly recoverable

in rates under current ratemaking policies.

Consumers is a so-called potentially responsible party a t

s eve ral contaminated sites administered under the Compre h e nsive

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act

(Superfund). Superfund liability is joint and several; along with

Consumers, many other creditworthy, potentially responsible

parties with substantial assets cooperate with respect to the

individual sites. Based upon past negotiations, Consumers esti-

m at e s t h at i t s s h a re o f t h e t o t a l l i ab i l i t y fo r t h e k n ow n S u p e r f u n d

sites will be between $3 million and $9 million. At December 31,

1 9 9 8 , C o n s u m e rs has accrued the minimum amount of the ra n ge

for its estimated Superfund liability.

While decommissioning Big Rock, Consumers found that

some areas of the plant have coatings that contain both metals

and polychlorinated biphenyls. Consumers does not believe that

any facility in the United States currently accepts the radioac-

tive portion of that waste. The cost of removal and disposal is

currently unknown. These costs will constitute part of the cost

to decommission the plant, and will be paid from the decom-

missioning fund. Consumers is studying the extent of the conta-

mination and reviewing options.

A n t i t ru s t : I n O c t o b e r 1 9 9 7 , t wo i n d ep e n d e n t p owe r p ro d u c e rs

sued Consumers in a federal court. The suit alleges antitrust

violations relating to contracts which Consumers entered into

with some of its customers and claims relating to power facili-

ties. The plaintiffs claim damages of $100 million (which a

court can treble in antitrust cases as provided by law). Con-

sumers has filed a motion to dismiss and is awaiting a court rul-

ing on this motion. Consumers believes the lawsuit is without

merit and will vigorously defend against it, but cannot predict

the outcome of this matter.
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Under this program, customers buying electricity from 

Consumers as traditional customers will not have their rates

adjusted to reflect the actual costs of fuel and purchased and

interchanged power during the 1998–2001 period. In prior

years, any change in power supply costs was passed through 

to Consumers’ customers. In order to reduce the risk of high

energy prices during peak demand periods, Consumers is 

purchasing energy options and contracting to buy electricity

during the months of June through September 1999. Con-

sumers is planning to have sufficient generation and purchased

capacity for a 16 percent to 21 percent reserve margin in order

to provide reliable service to its electric service customers and to

protect itself against unscheduled plant outages. Under certain

circumstances, the cost of purchasing capacity and energy on

the spot market could be substantial.

Other Consumers ’ Electric Utility Uncert a i n t i e s

The Midland Cogeneration Venture: The MCV Partnership,

which leases and operates the MCV Facility, contracted to sell

electricity to Consumers for a 35-year period beginning in 1990

and to supply electricity and steam to The Dow Chemical Com-

pany. Consumers, through two wholly owned subsidiaries, holds

the following assets related to the MCV Partnership and MCV

Fa c i l i t y : (i )C M S M i d l a n d I n c. , a subsidiary of C o n s u m e rs, ow n s

a 4 9p e rc e n t ge n e ra lp a rt n e rs h i p i n t e rest in the MCV Pa rt n e rs h i p ;

and (ii) CMS Midland Holdings Company, a subsidiary of

Consumers, holds, through FMLP, a 35 percent lessor interest

in the MCV Facility.

Summarized Statements of Income for CMS Midland and CMS

Holdings (unaudited):

In Millions

December 31 1998 1997 1996

Pretax operating income $49 $46 $40

Income taxes and other 15 14 11

Net income $34 $32 $29

Power Purchases from the MCV Partnership: Consumers’

annual obligation to purchase capacity from the MCV Partner-

ship is 1,240 MW through the termination of the PPA in 2025.

The PPA provides that Consumers is to pay a levelized average

capacity charge, based on the MCV Facility’s availability, of

3.77 cents per kilowatt-hour (kWh), a fixed energy charge, and a

variable energy charge based primarily on Consumers’ average

direct access in 1998; (iii) suspension of the power supply cost

recovery (PSCR) clause as discussed below; and (iv) all 

customers to choose their power suppliers on January 1, 2002.

The recovery of costs of implementing a direct-access program,

preliminarily estimated at an additional $200 million, would be

reviewed for prudence and recovered via a charge approved by

the MPSC. Nuclear decommissioning costs will also continue to

be collected through a separate surcharge to all customers.

In June 1998, Consumers submitted its plan for implement-

ing direct access to the MPSC. The primary issues addressed in

the plan are: (i) the implementation schedule; (ii) the direct-

access service options available to customers and suppliers;

(iii) the process and requirements for customers and others to

obtain direct-access service; and (iv) the roles and responsibili-

ties for Consumers, customers and suppliers. In the plan, Con-

sumers proposed to phase in 750 MW of retail customer load

to customers purchasing their power from other sources over

the 1998–2001 period. Subsequent to year-end, Consumers

received MPSC electric restructuring orders which generally

supported Consumers’implementation plan. Accordingly,

Consumers is now preparing to implement electric customer

direct access.

There are numerous appeals pending at the Court of Appeals

relating to the MPSC’s restructuring orders, including appeals

by Consumers. Consumers believes that the MPSC lacks statu-

tory authority to mandate industry restructuring, and its appeal

is limited to this jurisdictional issue. CMS Energy cannot 

predict the outcome of electric restructuring on CMS Energy’s

financial position, liquidity or results of operations.

In October 1998, C o n s u m e rs initiated a process for the solic-

i t ation of bids to acquire Consumers ’ rights to 1,240 MW of

c o n t ract capacity and associated energy being purchased fro m

the MCV Pa rt n e rs h i p. Subsequent to ye a r- e n d , C o n s u m e rs

signed a tentat ive long-term power sales agreement with PECO

E n e rgy Company. This transaction is subject to o b t a i n i n g s at -

i s fa c t o ry rate-making and accounting tre atment and reg u l at o ry

ru l i n g s. In an order issued in 1998, the MPSC delayed its con-

s i d e ration of the bidding process until a defin i t ive agre e m e n t

was signed (subject to rev i ew by the MPSC), but stated that

C o n s u m e rs ’ ap p ro a ch offe rs a leg i t i m ate way to utilize indep e n-

dent market fo rces to determine the ab ove - m a rket or stra n d e d

p o rtion of C o n s u m e rs ’o bl i gations under the Power Purch a s e

A greement (PPA) with the MCV Pa rt n e rs h i p. C o n s u m e rs antic-

i p ates that its reg u l at o ry filing will be made with the MPSC fo r

c o n s i d e ration by the end of the first quarter of 1 9 9 9 .

As a result of a 1998 MPSC order in connection with the

electric restructuring program, Consumers’ ability to recover

certain costs pursuant to the PSCR process was suspended.
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cost of coal consumed. Since January 1, 1993, Consumers has

been permitted by the MPSC to recover capacity charges aver-

aging 3.62 cents per kWh for 915 MW, plus a substantial port i o n

of the fixed and variable energy charges. Since January 1, 1996,

Consumers also has been permitted to recover capacity charges

for the remaining 325 MW of contract capacity with an initial

average charge of 2.86 cents per kWh increasing periodically to

an eventual 3.62 cents per kWh by 2004 and thereafter. Because

the MPSC has already approved recovery of this capacity, Con-

sumers expects to recover these increases through an adjustment

to the currently frozen PSCR level. This adjustment is currently

under consideration by the MPSC. After September 2007,

under the terms of the PPA, Consumers will only be required to

pay the MCV Partnership capacity and energy charges that the

MPSC has authorized for recovery from electric customers.

Consumers recognized a loss in 1992 for the present value of

the estimated future underrecoveries of power costs under the

PPA based on MPSC recovery orders. At December 31, 1998

and December 31, 1997, the remaining after-tax present value

of the estimated future PPA liability associated with the 1992

loss totaled $110 million and $117 million, respectively. At

December 31, 1998, the undiscounted after-tax amount associ-

ated with this liability totaled $164 million. These after-tax cash

underrecoveries are based on the assumption that the MCV

Facility would be available to generate electricity 91.5 percent of

the time over its expected life. Historically the MCV Facility has

operated above the 91.5 percent level. Accordingly, in 1998,

Consumers increased its PPA liability by $37 million. Because

the MCV Facility was available 99.4 percent of the time in

1998, Consumers has an accumulated unrecovered after-tax

shortfall of $10 million as of December 31, 1998. If the MCV

Facility was to be available to generate electricity at the

expected 91.5 percent level during the next five years,

Consumers’after-tax cash underrecoveries associated with the

PPA would be as follows.

In Millions

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Estimated cash under-

recoveries, net of tax $22 $21 $20 $19 $18

If the MCV Facility operates at availability levels above

management’s estimate over the remainder of the PPA, Con-

sumers will need to recognize additional losses for future under-

recoveries. For further discussion on the impact of the frozen

PSCR, see “Electric Restructuring”in this Note. Management

will continue to evaluate the adequacy of the contract loss 

liability considering actual MCV Facility operations and the

potential sale of the PPA.

In February 1998, the MCV Partnership filed a claim of

appeal from the January 1998 and February 1998 MPSC orders

in the electric utility industry restructuring. At the same time,

the MCV Partnership filed suit in the U.S. District Court seek-

ing a declaration that the MPSC’s failure to provide Consumers

and the MCV Partnership a certain source of recovery of

capacity payments after 2007 deprived the MCV Partnership of

its rights under the Public Utilities Regulatory Policies Act of

1978. The MCV Partnership is seeking to prohibit the MPSC

from implementing portions of the order.

Nuclear Matters: In January 1997, the NRC issued its 

Systematic Assessment of Licensee Performance report for Pal-

isades. The report rated all areas as good. The NRC suspended

the assessment process for all licensees in 1998.

Palisades’temporary on-site storage pool for spent nuclear

fuel is at capacity. Consequently, Consumers is using NRC-

approved steel and concrete vaults, commonly known as “dry

casks,” for temporary on-site storage. As of December 31, 1998

Consumers had loaded 13 dry storage casks with spent nuclear

fuel at Palisades and plans to load five additional casks in 1999

pending approval by the NRC. In June 1997, the NRC approved

Consumers’process for unloading spent fuel from a cask previ-

ously discovered to have minor weld flaws. Consumers intends

to transfer the spent fuel to a new transportable cask when one

is available.

C o n s u m e rs maintains insurance cove rage against pro p e rt y

d a m age, d ebris re m ova l , p e rsonal injury liability and other risks

t h at are present at its nu clear ge n e rating fa c i l i t i e s. C o n s u m e rs

also maintains cove rage for replacement power costs during pro-

l o n ged accidental outages at Pa l i s a d e s. I n s u rance would not

c over such costs during the first 17 weeks of a ny outage, bu t

would cover most of s u ch costs during the next 58 weeks of t h e

o u t age, fo l l owed by reduced cove rage to 80 percent for two add i-

tional ye a rs. I f c e rtain cove red losses occur at its own or other

nu clear plants similarly insure d , C o n s u m e rs could be re q u i red to

p ay maximum assessments of $15 million in any one year to

N u clear Electric Insurance Limited; $88 million per occurre n c e,

limited to a maximum installment payment of $10 million per

o c c u rrence in any ye a r; and $6 million if nu clear wo rke rs cl a i m

b o d i ly injury from ra d i ation ex p o s u re. C o n s u m e rs considers the

possibility of these assessments to be re m o t e.
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requirements, could affect the estimate of remedial action costs

for the sites. Consumers defers and amortizes over a period of

ten years, environmental clean-up costs above the amount cur-

rently being recovered in rates. Rate recognition of amortization

expense will not begin until after a prudence review in a general

rate case. Consumers is allowed current recovery of $1 million

annually. Consumers has initiated lawsuits against certain insur-

ance companies regarding coverage for some or all of the costs

that it may incur for these sites.

C o n s u m e rs Gas Group Mat t e rs

Gas Restructuring: In December 1997, the MPSC approved

Consumers’ application to implement an experimental gas

transportation program, which will extend over a three-year

period, eventually allowing 300,000 residential, commercial and

industrial retail gas sales customers to choose their gas supplier

in direct competition with Consumers. The program is volun-

tary and participating natural gas customers are selected on a

first-come, first-served basis, up to a limit of 100,000 per year.

As of December 31, 1998, more than 102,000 customers chose

alternative gas suppliers, representing approximately 24.1 billion

cubic feet (bcf) of gas load. Customers choosing to remain as

sales customers of Consumers will not see a rate change in 

their natural gas rates. This three-year program: (i) suspends

Consumers’ gas cost recovery clause, effective April 1, 1998,

establishing a gas commodity cost at a fixed rate of $2.84 per

thousand cubic feet (mcf); (ii) establishes an earnings sharing

mechanism with customers if Consumers’earnings exceed 

certain pre-determined levels; and (iii) establishes a gas trans-

portation code of conduct that addresses the relationship

between Consumers and marketers, including its affiliated mar-

keters. In January 1998, the Michigan Attorney General,

Association of Businesses Advocating Tariff Equity and other

parties filed claims of appeal regarding the program with the

Court of Appeals.

The NRC requires Consumers to make certain calculations

and report on the continuing ability of the Palisades reactor

vessel to withstand postulated pressurized thermal shock events

during its remaining license life, considering the embrittlement

of reactor materials. In December 1996, Consumers received an

interim Safety Evaluation Report from the NRC indicating that

the reactor vessel can be safely operated through 2003 before

reaching the NRC’s screening criteria for reactor embrittlement.

Consumers believes that with fuel management designed to

minimize embrittlement, it can operate Palisades to the end of

its license life in the year 2007 without annealing the reactor

vessel. Nevertheless, Consumers will continue to monitor the

matter.

Commitments for Coal Supplies: Consumers has entered into

coal supply contracts with various suppliers for its coal-fired

generating stations. Under the terms of these agreements,

Consumers is obligated to take physical delivery of the coal 

and make payment based upon the contract terms. Consumers’

current contracts have expiration dates that range from 1999 to

2004. Consumers enters into long-term contracts for approxi-

mately 50–75 percent of its annual coal requirements. In 1998

coal purchases totaled $246 million of which $161 million 

(60 percent of the tonnage requirement) was under long-term

contract. Consumers supplements its long-term contracts with

spot-market purchases.

C o n s u m e rs Gas Group Continge n c i e s

Gas Environmental Matters: Under the Mich i gan Nat u ra l

Re s o u rces and Env i ronmental Protection A c t , C o n s u m e rs

expects that it will ultimat e ly incur inve s t i gation and re m e d i a l

action costs at a number of s i t e s, i n cluding some 23 sites that fo r-

m e rly housed manu fa c t u red gas plant fa c i l i t i e s, even those in

wh i ch it has a partial or no current ow n e rship intere s t . On sites

wh e re Consumers has re c e ived site-wide study plan ap p rova l s, i t

will continue to implement these plans. It will also wo rk towa rd

cl o s u re of e nv i ronmental issues at sites as studies are completed.

Consumers estimates its costs related to investigation and reme-

dial action for all 23 sites between $48 million and $98 million,

of which Consumers accrued a liability for $48 million. These

estimates are undiscounted 1998 costs. As of December 31,

1998, Consumers has an accrued liability of $48 million and a

regulatory asset for approximately the same amount. Any sig-

nificant change in assumptions, such as remediation techniques,

nature and extent of contamination, and legal and regulatory



CMS Energy has accrued estimated losses for certain contin-

gencies discussed in this Note. Resolution of these continge n c i e s

is not expected to have a material adve rse impact on CMS

E n e rgy ’s financial position, liquidity or results of o p e rat i o n s.

4 : S H O RT- TERM F INAN CINGS

At December 31, 1998, CMS Energy and a subsidiary had

bridge loan facilities negotiated with domestic banks in an

aggregate amount of $1.9 billion. These facilities were specifi-

cally available to finance CMS Energy’s acquisition of the 

Panhandle Companies, and had a term of six months from the

date of acquisition. These facilities had aggregate average com-

mitment and usage fees of approximately 53 basis points on

amounts committed and/or used.

At Feb ru a ry 1, 1 9 9 9 , C o n s u m e rs had Fe d e ral Energy 

Reg u l at o ry Commission (FERC) authorization to issue or guar-

antee through June 2000, up to $900 million of s h o rt - t e rm 

securities outstanding at any one time and to guara n t e e, t h ro u g h

1 9 9 9 , up to $25 million in loans made by others to residents 

o f M i ch i gan for making energy - re l ated home improve m e n t s.

C o n s u m e rs also had remaining FERC authorization to issue

t h rough June 2000, up to $475 million and $425 million of l o n g -

t e rm securities with maturities up to 30 ye a rs for re fin a n c i n g

p u rposes and for ge n e ral corp o rate purposes re s p e c t ive ly.

Consumers has an unsecured $425 million credit facility and

unsecured lines of credit aggregating $130 million. These facili-

ties are available to finance seasonal working capital require-

ments and to pay for capital expenditures between long-term

financings. At December 31, 1998, a total of $215 million was

outstanding at a weighted average interest rate of 5.8 percent,

compared with $377 million outstanding at December 31, 1997,

at a weighted average interest rate of 6.5 percent. In January

1999, Consumers renegotiated a variable-to-fixed interest rate

swap totaling $175 million in order to reduce the impact of

interest rate fluctuations.

C o n s u m e rs also has in place a $500 million trade re c e ivabl e s

sale progra m . At December 31, 1998 and 1997, re c e ivables sold

under the program totaled $306 million and $335 million, re s p e c-

t ive ly. Accounts re c e ivable and accrued reve nue in the Consoli-

d at e dB a l a n c e S h e e t s h ave b e e n re d u c e d t o re fle c t re c e ivables sold.

Consumers uses gas purchase contracts to limit its risk asso-

ciated with gas price increases. It is management’s intent to take

physical delivery of the commodity and failure could result in a

significant penalty for nonperformance. At December 31, 1998,

Consumers had an exposure to gas price increases if the ulti-

mate cost of gas was to exceed $2.84 per mcf for the following

volumes: 15 percent of its 1999 requirements; 45 percent of its

2000 requirements; and 45 percent of its first quarter 2001

requirements. Additional contract coverage is currently under

review. The gas purchase contracts currently in place were con-

summated at prices less than $2.84 per mcf. The gas purchase

contracts are being used to protect against gas price increases in

a three-year experimental gas program where Consumers is

recovering from its customers $2.84 per mcf for gas.

Commitments for Gas Supplies: Consumers entered into gas

supply contracts and transportation contracts with various 

suppliers for its natural gas business. These contracts have expi-

ration dates that range from 1999 to 2003. Consumers’1998 gas

requirements totaled 210 bcf at a cost of $565 million, 70 per-

cent of which was under long-term contracts for one year or

more. As of the end of 1998, Consumers had 85 percent of its

1999 gas requirements under such long-term contracts, and will

supplement them with additional long-term contracts and spot-

market purchases.

Other Un cert a i n t i e s

CMS Generation Environmental Matters: CMS Generation Co.

(CMS Generation) does not currently expect to incur significant

capital costs, if any, at its power facilities to comply with cur-

rent environmental regulatory standards.

Capital Expenditures: CMS Energy estimates capital expen-

ditures, including investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries

and new lease commitments, of $4.148 billion for 1999, which

includes approximately $2.2 billion for the acquisition of the

Panhandle Eastern Pipe Line Company, Trunkline Gas Com-

pany, Pan Gas Storage Company, Panhandle Storage Company

and Trunkline LNG Company (Panhandle Companies),

$1.450 billion for 2000, and $1.175 billion for 2001. For further

information, see Capital Resources and Liquidity—Capital

Expenditures in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Other: As of December 31, 1998, CMS Energy and Enter-

prises have guaranteed up to $433 million in contingent obliga-

tions of unconsolidated affiliates and related parties.

In addition to the matters disclosed in this note, Consumers

and certain other subsidiaries of CMS Energy are parties to 

certain lawsuits and administrative proceedings before various

courts and governmental agencies arising from the ordinary

course of business. These lawsuits and proceedings may involve

p e rs o n a l i n j u ry, p ro p e rt y d a m age, c o n t ra c t u a l m at t e rs,

environmental issues, federal and state taxes, rates, licensing 

and other matters.
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In January 1999, CMS Energy received net proceeds of

approximately $473 million from the sale of $480 million of

senior notes. In February 1999, CMS Energy received net pro-

ceeds of approximately $296 million from the sale of $300 mil-

lion of senior notes. Proceeds from these offerings were used to

repay debt and for general corporate purposes.

C o n s u m e rs 

C o n s u m e rs issued a total of $1.075 billion of senior notes

t h roughout 1998 at va rying interest rates between 6.2 percent 

and 6.875 perc e n t , principal amounts between $150 million and

$250 million, and maturities from 2008 to 2028. The senior notes

a re secured by Consumers First Mort gage Bonds issued contem-

p o ra n e o u s ly in similar amounts and one series of senior notes

also is secured by an insurance policy. C o n s u m e rs also issued

l o n g - t e rm bank debt of $225 million in May 1998, m aturing in

2001 to 2003, at an initial interest rate of 6.05 perc e n t . P ro c e e d s

f ro mt h e s ei s s u a n c e s we re u s e dp r i m a r i ly t op ay d ow n$ 6 2 7m i l l i o n

o f F i rst Mort gage Bonds and $450 million of l o n g - t e rm bank

d eb t , as well as for ge n e ral corp o rate purp o s e s.
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The scheduled maturities of long-term debt and improve-

ment fund obligations are as follows: $258 million in 1999,

$408 million in 2000, $96 million in 2001, $1.306 billion in 2002

and $592 million in 2003.

CMS Energy 

CMS Energy has $725 million of senior credit facilities consist-

ing of a $600 million three-year revolving credit facility and a

five-year $125 million term loan facility (Senior Credit Facili-

ties). Additionally, CMS Energy has unsecured lines of credit

and letters of credit in an aggregate amount of $216 million. At

December 31, 1998, the total amount utilized under the Senior

Credit Facilities was $725 million, including $57 million of con-

tingent obligations, and under the unsecured lines of credit and

letters of credit was $147 million.

In January 1998, a Delaware statutory business trust estab-

lished by CMS Energy sold $180 million of certificates due Jan-

uary 15, 2005 in a public offering. In exchange for those

proceeds, CMS Energy sold to the trust $180 million aggregate

principal amount of 7 percent Extendible Tenor Rate Adjusted

Securities due January 15, 2005, which may be extended for an

additional seven years. Net proceeds to CMS Energy from the

sale totaled $176 million.

In August 1998, CMS Energy filed a shelf registration state-

ment for the issuance of $400 million of General Term Notes®

Series E.

5 : LONG-T ERM  DEB T

Long-term debt consists of the following:

In Millions

December 31 Maturing/Expiring Interest Rate 1998 1997

First Mortgage Bonds 1998 to 2023 6.4% to 8.9% $ 628 $1,255
Long-Term Bank Debt 2003 5.8%( a) 175 400
Senior Notes:

CMS Energy 2000 to 2004 7.8% ( a) 830 830
Consumers 2008 to 2028 6.5%( a) 1,075 —

Extendible Tenor Rate
Adjusted Securities 2005 (b) 7.0%( a) 180 —

Senior Credit Facilities 2002 6.6% ( a) 669 305
General Term Notes ®

Series A to E 1999 to 2008 7.5% ( a) 625 509
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds 2000 to 2018 5.2% ( a) 131 131
Term Loan Agreement—CMS Generation 1 9 9 8 7.4%( a) — 91
Revolving Line of Credit 2003 5.9%( a) 168 124
Nuclear Fuel Disposal (c) 5.1% ( a) 117 111
Bank Loans and Other 1999 to 2014 7.7%( a) 410 134

Principal Amount Outstanding 5,008 3,890
Current Amounts (258) (609)
Net Unamortized Discount (24) (9)

Total Long-Term Debt $4,726 $3,272

(a) Represents the weighted average interest rate at December 31,1998.
(b) May be extended for an additional seven years.
(c) Maturity date uncertain (see Note 2).
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C o n s u m e rs secures its First Mort gage Bonds by a mort gage

and lien on substantially all of its pro p e rt y. C o n s u m e rs ’ ability to

issue and sell securities is restricted by certain provisions in its

F i rst Mort gage Bond Indenture, its A rt i cles of I n c o rp o ration and

the need for reg u l at o ry ap p rovals to meet ap p ro p r i ate fe d e ral law.

Consumers’long-term pollution control revenue bonds are

secured by irrevocable letters of credit or First Mortgage

Bonds, and an insurance policy.

CMS Oil and Gas

CMS Oil and Gas has a $225 million revolving credit facility

that converts to term loans maturing from March 1999 through

March 2003.

6 : C A P I TA L I Z AT IO N 

CMS Energy

The authorized capital stock of CMS Energy consists of 250

million shares of CMS Energy Common Stock, one of two

classes of par value $.01 per share (CMS Energy Common

Stock), 60 million shares of Class G Common Stock, one of

two classes of no par value (Class G Common Stock), and 10

million shares of CMS Energy Preferred Stock, $.01 par value.

In November 1998, CMS Energy sold 4.5 million new shares

of CMS Energy Common Stock in a block trade. The net pro-

ceeds of approximately $208 million were used for general cor-

porate purposes.

In December 1998, CMS Energy filed a shelf registration

statement for the issuance of $1.5 billion of CMS Energy Com-

mon Stock, trust preferred securities and other securities which

could be converted into CMS Energy Common Stock.

CMS Energy, through CMS Energy Trust I, a wholly owned

business trust, sold 3.45 million units of 7.75 percent tax

deductible Trust Preferred Securities. The primary asset of CMS

Energy Trust I is $178 million principal amount of 7.75 percent

subordinated debentures issued by CMS Energy, which mature

in 2027. These tax deductible Trust Preferred Securities are con-

vertible into 4.2 million shares of CMS Energy Common Stock

at a rate equivalent to a conversion price of $40.80 per share of

CMS Energy Common Stock.

Other: Under its most restrictive borrowing arrangement at

December 31, 1998, none of CMS Energy’s consolidated net

income was restricted for payment of common dividends. CMS

Energy could pay $800 million in common dividends under its

most restrictive debt covenant.

C o n s u m e rs

Consumers has 4 million shares of 8.36 percent Trust Preferred

Securities which were sold through Consumers Power Company

Financing I, a wholly owned business trust consolidated with

Consumers. Net proceeds from the sale totaled $97 million.

Consumers has 4.8 million shares of 8.2 percent Trust Preferred

Securities which were sold through Consumers Energy Com-

pany Financing II, a wholly owned business trust consolidated

with Consumers. Net proceeds from the sale totaled $116 mil -

lion. Consumers formed both trusts for the sole purpose of

issuing the Trust Preferred Securities. Consumers’obligations

with respect to the Trust Preferred Securities under the related

tax-deductible notes, under the indenture through which Con-

sumers issued the notes, under Consumers’guarantee of the

Trust Preferred Securities, and under the declaration by the

trusts, taken together, constitute a full and unconditional guar-

antee by Consumers of the trusts’ obligations under the Trust

Preferred Securities.

Under the provisions of its Articles of Incorporation,

Consumers had $300 million of unrestricted retained earnings

available to pay common dividends at December 31, 1998.

In January 1999, Consumers declared and paid a $97 million

common dividend.

7 : EA RNINGS PER  S HA RE AN D DIVIDEND S

CMS Energy currently has two classes of common stock:

CMS Energy Common Stock and Class G Common Stock

(Common Stock). Earnings per share attributable to Common

Stock for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996

include earnings of the gas distribution, storage and transporta-

tion businesses currently conducted by Consumers and Michi-

gan Gas Storage Company (Consumers Gas Group). The

allocation of earnings attributable to each class of common

stock and the related amounts per share are computed by con-

sidering the weighted average number of shares outstanding.

Earnings attributable to the outstanding shares of Class G

Common Stock (Outstanding Shares) are equal to Consumers

Gas Group net income multiplied by a fraction; the numerator

is the weighted average number of Outstanding Shares during

the period and the denominator is the weighted average number

of Outstanding Shares and authorized but unissued shares of

Class G Common Stock not held by holders of the Outstanding

Shares during the period. The earnings attributable to Class G

Common Stock on a per share basis for 1998, 1997 and 1996

are based on 25.5 percent, 24.5 percent, and 23.8 percent,

respectively, of the income of Consumers Gas Group.
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1998, CMS Energy paid dividends of $.33 per share on CMS

Energy Common Stock and $.325 per share on Class G Common

Stock. In January 1999, the Board of Directors declared a quar-

terly dividend of $.33 per share on CMS Energy Common Stock

and $.325 per share on Class G Common Stock, which were paid

in February 1999.

8:  RI SK MAN AGE MENT ACTI VITIE S AND  
D E R I VAT IVES TR AN SAC TION S

CMS Energy and its subsidiaries use a variety of derivative

instruments (derivatives), including futures contracts, swaps,

options and forward contracts, to manage exposure to fluctua-

tions in commodity prices, interest rates and foreign exchange

rates. To qualify for hedge accounting, derivatives must meet the

following criteria: (i) the item to be hedged exposes the enterprise

to price, interest or exchange rate risk; and (ii) the derivative

reduces that exposure and is designated as a hedge.

Derivative instruments contain credit risk if the counter par-

ties, including financial institutions and energy marketers, fail to

perform under the agreements. CMS Energy minimizes such risk

by performing financial credit reviews using, among other things,

publicly available credit ratings of such counter parties. Nonper-

formance by counter parties is not expected to have a material

adverse impact on CMS Energy’s financial position, liquidity or

results of operations.

Commodity Price Hedges: CMS Energy accounts for its com-

modity price derivatives as hedges, as defined above, and as such,

defers any changes in market value and gains and losses resulting

from settlements until the hedged transaction is complete. If

there was a loss of correlation between the changes 

in (i) the market value of the commodity price contracts and 

(ii) the market price ultimately received for the hedged item, and

the impact was material, the open commodity price contracts

would be marked to market and gains and losses would be recog-

nized in the income statement currently.

C o n s u m e rs h a s e n t e re d i n t o a n d w i l l e n t e r i n t o e l e c t r i c o p t i o n

contracts to ensure a reliable source of capacity to meet its 

customers’electric requirements and to limit its risk associated

with electricity price increases. It is management’s intent to take

physical delivery of the commodity. Consumers continuously

evaluates its daily capacity needs and sells the option contracts, if

marketable, when it has excess daily capacity. Consumers’maxi-

mum exposure associated with these options is limited to premi-

ums paid.

CMS Oil and Gas has one arrangement which is used to fix

the prices that CMS Oil and Gas will pay for gas supplied to t h e

M C V Fa c i l i t y fo rt h e ye a rs 2 0 0 1 t h ro u g h2 0 0 6 by p u rch a s i n g the

economic equivalent of 10,000 million British thermal units

(MMBtu) per day at a fixed price, escalating at 8 percent per year

Computation of Earnings Per Share:

In Millions, Except Per Share Amounts

1998 1997 1996

Net  In come A ppl icabl e to Ba sic
an d Di luted Ear n in gs Per S hare
Consolidated Net Income $ 285 $ 244 $ 224

Net Income Attributable to 

Common Stocks:

CMS Energy—Basic Income $ 272 $ 229 $ 210

Add conversion of 7.75% Trust

Preferred Securities (net of tax) 9 5 —

CMS Energy—Diluted Income $ 281 $ 234 $ 210

Class G:

Basic and Diluted Income $ 13 $ 15 $ 14

Ave rage Comm on Sh ares  Ou tstanding 
Ap pl icable to B asic  and Di l ute d 
E a r nin gs Per S ha re

CMS Energy:

Average Shares—Basic 102.4 96.1 92.5

Add conversion of 7.75% Trust

Preferred Securities 4.3 2.3 —

Options—Treasury Shares 0.5 0.3 0.2

Average Shares—Diluted 107.2 98.7 92.7

Class G:

Average Shares

Basic and Diluted 8.3 8.0 7.7

E a rn ings Per Av erage  
Com mon  Share

CMS Energy:

Basic $ 2.65 $2.39 $2.27

Diluted 2.62 2.37 2.26

Class G:

Basic and Diluted 1.56 1.84 1.82

H o l d e rs of Class G Common Stock have no direct rights in

the equity or assets of C o n s u m e rs Gas Gro u p, but rather have

rights in the equity and assets of CMS Energy as a wh o l e. I n

the sole discretion of the CMS Energy Board of D i re c t o rs

( B o a rd of D i re c t o rs ) , CMS Energy may pay dividends excl u-

s ive ly to the holders of Class G Common Stock , excl u s ive ly to

the holders of CMS Energy Common Stock , or to the holders

o f both classes in equal or unequal amounts. The Board of

D i re c t o rs has stated its intention to decl a re and pay div i d e n d s

on the CMS Energy Common Stock based primarily on the

e a rnings and financial condition of CMS Energy. D ividends on

Class G Common Stock are paid at the discretion of the Board

o f D i re c t o rs based primarily upon the earnings and fin a n c i a l

condition of C o n s u m e rs Gas Gro u p, and to a lesser ex t e n t ,

CMS Energy as a wh o l e.

In February and May 1998, CMS Energy paid dividends of

$.30 per share on CMS Energy Common Stock and $.31 per

share on Class G Common Stock. In August and November
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thereafter, starting at $2.82 per MMBtu in 2001. The settlement

periods are each a one-year period ending December 31, 2 0 0 1

t h ro u g h 2 0 0 6 o n 3 . 6 5 m i l l i o n M M B t u . I f t h e flo at i n g p r i c e,

essentially the then-current Gulf Coast spot price, for a period

is higher than the fixed price, the seller pays CMS Oil and Gas

the difference, and vice versa. If a party’s exposure at any time

exceeds $5 million, that party is required to obtain a letter of

credit in favor of the other party for the excess over $5 million

and up to $10 million. At December 31, 1998, no letter of

credit was posted by either party to the agreement. As of

December 31, 1998, the fair value of this contract reflected 

payment due from CMS Oil and Gas of $14.5 million.

A subsidiary of CMS Gas Transmission uses natural gas

future contracts and CMS Marketing, Services and Trading

Company uses natural gas and oil futures contracts, options

and swaps (which require a net cash payment for the difference

between a fixed and variable price).

Interest Rate Hedges: CMS Energy and some of its sub-

sidiaries enter into interest rate swap agreements to exchange

variable rate interest payment obligations to fixed rate obliga-

tions without exchanging the underlying notional amounts.

These agreements convert variable rate debt to fixed rate debt 

to reduce the impact of interest rate fluctuations. The notional

amounts parallel the underlying debt levels and are used to

measure interest to be paid or received and do not represent 

the exposure to credit loss. The notional amount of CMS

Energy’s and its subsidiaries’interest rate swaps was $579 mil-

l i o n at D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 8 . Th e d i ffe re n c e b e t we e n t h e

amounts paid and received under the swaps is accrued and

recorded as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of

the hedged agreement.

Foreign Exchange Hedges: CMS Energy uses forward

exchange contracts and collared options to hedge certain 

receivables, payables, long-term debt and equity value relating

to foreign investments. The purpose of CMS Energy’s foreign

currency hedging activities is to protect the company from the

risk that U.S. dollar net cash flows resulting from sales to for-

eign customers and purchases from foreign suppliers and the

repayment of non-U.S. dollar borrowings as well as equity

reported on the company’s balance sheet, may be adversely

affected by changes in exchange rates. These contracts do not

subject CMS Energy to risk from exchange rate movements

because gains and losses on such contracts offset losses and

gains, respectively, on assets and liabilities being hedged. The

notional amount of the outstanding foreign exchange contracts

wa s $ 7 3 6 m i l l i o n at D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 8 , wh i ch i n cl u d e s $ 4 5 0 m i l-

lion and $250 million for Australian and Brazilian foreign

exchange contracts, respectively. Subsequent to December 31,

1998, the fair value of the Brazilian foreign exchange contracts

increased significantly, as the Brazilian real weakened against

the U.S. dollar.

9 : IN COME TAX ES 

CMS Energy and its subsidiaries file a consolidated fe d e ra l

income tax re t u rn . Income taxes are ge n e ra l ly allocated based 

on each company ’s sep a rate taxable income. CMS Energy and

C o n s u m e rs practice full defe rred tax accounting for tempora ry

d i ffe re n c e s, but fe d e ral income taxes have not been re c o rded on

the undistributed earnings of i n t e rn ational subsidiaries wh e re

CMS Energy intends to perm a n e n t ly re i nvest those earn i n g s.

Upon distribu t i o n , those earnings may be subject to both U. S.

income taxes (adjusted for fo reign tax credits or deductions) and

withholding taxes payable to various fo reign countries. It is not

p ractical to estimate the amount of u n re c og n i zed defe rre d

income taxes or withholding taxes on undistributed earn i n g s.

CMS Energy used investment tax credit (ITC) to reduce cur -

rent income taxes payable, and amortizes ITC over the life of

the related property. Any alternative minimum tax (AMT) paid

generally becomes a tax credit that CMS Energy can carry for-

ward indefinitely to reduce regular tax liabilities in future peri-

ods when regular taxes paid exceed the tax calculated for AMT.

The significant components of income tax expense (benefit)

consisted of:

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Current income taxes

Federal and other $ 61 $ 76 $ 86

State and local 5 3 4

Foreign 3 5 3

69 84 93

Deferred income taxes

Federal 77(a) 41 54

Foreign (7) (7) —

70 34 54

Deferred ITC, net (16) (10) (10)

$123 $108 $137

(a) Includes $23 million for 1998 change in property tax accounting.
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The carrying amounts of cash, short-term investments and cur-

rent liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short-

term nature. The estimated fair values of long-term investments

are based on quoted market prices or, in the absence of specific

market prices, on quoted market prices of similar investments

o r o t h e r va l u at i o n t e ch n i q u e s. Th e c a rry i n ga m o u n t s o f a l l l o n g -

t e rm i nve s t m e n t s i n fin a n c i a l i n s t ru m e n t s ap p rox i m at e fa i r va l u e.

The carrying amount and fair values of long-term debt were

$4.7 billion at December 31, 1998 and $3.3 billion at Decem-

ber 31, 1997. Although the current fair value of the long-term

debt may differ from the current carrying amount, settlement of

the reported debt is generally not expected until maturity. The

carrying amount of preferred stock and Trust Preferred Securi-

ties was $631 million at December 31, 1998 and $631 million at

December 31, 1997, and the fair value was $631 million and

$632 million, respectively.

The fair values of CMS Energy’s off balance-sheet financial

instruments are based on the amounts estimated to terminate 

or settle the instruments. At December 31, 1998, the fair value

of CMS Energy’s interest rate swap agreements, with a notional

amount of $579 million, was $15 million, representing the

amount that CMS Energy would have to pay to terminate the

agre e m e n t s. Th e s e t t l e m e n t o f t h ei n t e re s t rat e swap agre e m e n t s i n

1998 did not materially affect interest expense. At December 31,

1997, CMS Energy would have paid $13 million to terminate

the agreements. Also refer to Note 8 for a discussion of CMS

Oil and Gas’price hedging arrangements and their fair values.

G u a rantees we re $433 million and $543 million at December 31,

1998 and 1997, respectively.

The amortized cost of Consumers’ nuclear decommissioning

investments, which are considered available-for-sale securities in

accordance with SFAS 115, Accounting For Certain Investments

in Debt and Equity Securities, was $425 million and $405 million

as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The unrealized

ga i n , wh i ch i s cl a s s i fie d i n a c c u mu l at e d d ep re c i at i o n , wa s

$ 1 3 2 m i l l i o n a n d $ 8 1 m i l l i o n a s o f D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 8 a n d

1997, respectively.

Notes Continued

The principal components of CMS Energy’s deferred tax

assets (liabilities) recognized in the balance sheet are as follows:

In Millions

December 31 1998 1997

Property $ (574) $ (558)

Unconsolidated investments (285) (263)

Postretirement benefits (139) (150)

Abandoned Midland project (25) (33)

Employee benefit obligations 

(includes postretirement benefits

of $141 and $155) 182 195

AMT carryforward 134 147

Power purchases 59 66

Other (1) (14)

$ (649) $ (610)

Gross deferred tax liabilities $ (1,786) $(1,758)

Gross deferred tax assets 1,137 1,148

$ (649) $   (610)

The actual income tax expense differs from the amount com-

puted by applying the statutory federal tax rate of 35% to

income before income taxes as follows:

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Consolidated net income before

preferred dividends

Domestic $247 $222 $230

Foreign 57 47 22

304 269 252

Income tax expense 123(a) 108 137

427 377 389

Statutory federal income tax rate x 35% x 35%    x 35%

Expected income tax expense 149 132 136

Increase (decrease) in taxes from:

Capitalized overheads previously

flowed through 5 5 5

Differences in book and tax depreciation

not previously deferred 14 14 13

Impact of foreign taxes, tax rates 

and credits (5) 1 8

Undistributed earnings of

international subsidiaries (13) (10) (2)

ITC amortization/adjustments (16) (10) (10)

Section 29 Fuel Tax Credits (13) (13) (13)

Other, net 2 (11) —

$123 $108 $137

Effective tax rate 28.8% 28.6%    3 5 . 4 %

(a) Includes $23 million for 1998 change in property tax accounting.
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restricted CMS Energy Common Stock outstanding are subject

to performance objectives. At December 31, 1998 all of the

30,490 restricted shares of Class G Common Stock outstanding

are subject to performance objectives.

Under the plan, stock options and stock appreciation rights

relating to Common Stock are granted with an exercise price

equal to the closing market price on each grant date. Options are

exercisable upon grant and expire up to ten years and one month

from date of grant.

The weighted average fair value of options granted for CMS

Energy Common Stock was $6.43 in 1998, $6.38 in 1997, and

$6.94 in 1996. The weighted average fair value of options

granted for Class G Common Stock was $3.03 in 1998, $1.87 in

1997 and $1.59 in 1996. Fair value is estimated using the Black-

Scholes model, a mathematical formula used to value options

traded on securities exchanges, with the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

CMS E nerg y Common Stock O ptions
Risk-free interest rate 5.45% 6.06% 6.63%

Expected stock-price volatility 15.93% 17.43% 24.08%

Expected dividend rate $ .33 $ .30 $ .27

Expected option life (years) 4 5 5

C las s G Commo n Stoc k O p tion s
Risk-free interest rate 5.44% 6.06% 6.63%

Expected stock-price volatility 20.02% 18.05% 16.19%

Expected dividend rate $.325 $ .31 $ .295

Expected option life (years) 5 5 5

1 1 : EX EC UTIVE  I NCE NT IVE C OMP ENSAT I O N

Under CMS Energy’s Performance Incentive Stock Plan,

restricted shares of Common Stock as well as stock options and

stock appreciation rights relating to Common Stock may be

granted to key employees based on their contributions to the

successful management of CMS Energy and its subsidiaries.

Awards under the plan may consist of any class of Common

Stock. Certain plan awards are subject to performance-based

business criteria. The plan reserves for award not more than 

three percent of Common Stock outstanding on January 1 each

year, less (i) the number of shares of restricted Common Stock

awarded and (ii) Common Stock subject to options granted

under the plan during the immediately preceding four calendar

years. Any forfeitures of shares previously awarded will increase

the number of shares available to be awarded under the plan.

At December 31, 1998, awards of up to 681,603 shares of CMS

Energy Common Stock and 138,780 shares of Class G Com-

mon Stock may be issued.

Restricted shares of Common Stock are outstanding shares

with full voting and dividend rights. These awards vest over five

years at the rate of 25 percent per year after two years. The

restricted shares are subject to achievement of specified levels of

total shareholder return and are subject to forfeiture if employ-

ment terminates before vesting. If performance objectives are

exceeded, the plan provides additional awards. Restricted shares

vest fully if control of CMS Energy changes, as defined by the

plan. At December 31, 1998, 658,494 of the 861,744 shares of
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CMS Energy applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25 and related interpretations in accounting for the Performance

Incentive Stock Plan. Since stock options are granted at market price, no compensation cost has been recognized for stock options

granted under the plan. The compensation cost charged against income for restricted stock was $9 million in 1998, $6 million in

1997, and $2 million in 1996. If compensation cost for stock options had been determined in accordance with SFAS 123, Account-

ing for Stock-Based Compensation, CMS Energy’s consolidated net income and earnings per share would have been as follows:

In Millions, Except Per Share Amounts
Pro Forma As Reported

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1998 1997

Consolidated Net Income $283 $242 $285 $244
Net Income Attributable to 

Common Stocks
CMS Energy 270 228 272 229
Class G 13 14 13 15

Earnings Per Average Common Share
CMS Energy

Basic 2.64 2.37 2.65 2.39
Diluted 2.61 2.35 2.62 2.37

Class G
Basic and Diluted 1.54 1.81 1.56 1.84
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The status of the restricted stock granted to CMS Energy’s key employees under the Performance I n c e n t ive S t o ck P l a n a n d

o p t i o n s gra n t e d u n d e r t h e p l a n fo l l ow s.

Restricted
Stock Options 

Number Number Weighted-Average
of Shares of Shares Exercise Price

CMS Energy Common Stock:
Outstanding at January 1, 1996 517,447 1,592,000 $24.50

Granted 222,000 368,176 $30.55
Exercised or Issued (92,533) (231,550) $20.79
Forfeited (46,076) — —
Expired — (12,000) $32.88

Outstanding at December 31, 1996 600,838 1,716,626 $26.24
Granted 366,360 431,500 $35.91
Exercised or Issued (159,405) (479,422) $26.54
Forfeited (59,582) — —
Expired — (2,987) $30.13

Outstanding at December 31, 1997 748,211 1,665,717 $28.65
Granted 304,750 376,000 $43.38
Exercised or Issued (185,217) (331,925) $27.69
Forfeited (6,000) — —

Outstanding at December 31, 1998 861,744 1,709,792 $32.07

Class G Common Stock:
Outstanding at January 1, 1996 6,924 10,000 $17.88

Granted 9,423 11,000 $17.88

Outstanding at December 31, 1996 16,347 21,000 $17.88
Granted 8,784 12,000 $20.24
Exercised or Issued (1,385) (5,000) $17.88
Forfeited (3,955) — —

Outstanding at December 31, 1997 19,791 28,000 $18.89
Granted 14,720 45,900 $24.50
Exercised or Issued (4,021) — —

Outstanding at December 31, 1998 30,490 73,900 $22.37

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 1998:

Number Weighted- Weighted-
Range of of Shares Average Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Remaining Life Exercise Price

CMS Energy Common Stock:
$17.13–$26.25 576,000 4.45 years $22.92
$27.25–$35.94 755,292 6.11 years $33.40
$38.00–$44.06 378,500 9.64 years $43.34

$17.13–$44.06 1,709,792 6.33 years $32.07

Class G Common Stock:
$17.88–$19.44 25,500 7.62 years $18.46
$23.31–$24.50 48,400 9.60 years $24.44

$17.88–$24.50 73,900 8.92 years $22.37
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1 2 : RE TIRE ME NT  B ENEFI TS

CMS Energy and its subsidiaries provide retirement benefits under a number of different plans, including certain health care and life

insurance benefits under its postretirement benefit plans other than pensions for retired employees (OPEB), benefits to certain man-

agement employees under its Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP), and benefits to substantially all its employees under a

trusteed, non-contributory, defined benefit pension plan of Consumers and CMS Energy (Pension Plan), and a defined contribution

401(k) plan.

Amounts presented below for the Pension Plan include amounts for employees of CMS Energy and nonutility affiliates which

were not distinguishable from the plan’s total assets.

Weighted-Average Assumptions:
Pension & SERP OPEB

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

Discount rate 7.00% 7.50% 7.75% 7.00% 7.50% 7.75%
Expected long-term rate

of return on plan assets 9.25% 9.25% 9.25% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%
Rate of compensation increase:

Pension—to age 45 5.25% 5.25% 5.50%
— age 45 to assumed retirement 3.75% 3.75% 4.00%

SERP 5.50% 5.50% 5.50%

Retiree health care costs at December 31, 1998 are based on the assumption that costs would increase 6.5 percent in 1999, then

decrease gradually to 5.5 percent in 2005 and thereafter.

Net Pension Plan, SERP and OPEB costs consist of:

In Millions

Pension & SERP OPEB

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

Service cost $ 27 $ 26 $ 26 $ 11 $ 10 $ 13
Interest expense 64 6 1 5 8 43 4 1 4 2
Expected return on plan assets (73) (7 0) (6 9) (18) (13) (6)
Amortization of unrecognized transition (asset) (5) (5) (5) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost 4 4 5 — — —

Net periodic pension and
postretirement benefit cost $ 17 $ 16 $ 15 $ 36 $ 38 $ 49

The health care cost trend rate assumption significantly affects the amounts reported. A one percentage point change in the

assumed health care cost trend assumption would have the following effects:
In Millions

One Percentage One Percentage

Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost components $ 9 $ (8)

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $92 $(76)



SERP benefits are paidfrom a trust established in 1988.

SERP is not a qualified plan under the Internal Revenue Code,

and as such, earnings of the trust are taxable and trust assets

are included in consolidated assets. At December 31, 1998 and

1997, trust assets were $53 million and $44 million, respectively,

and were classified as other noncurrent assets. The accumulated

b e n e fit o bl i gat i o n fo rS E R P wa s $ 3 1 m i l l i o n i n 1 9 9 8 a n d$ 2 5 m i l-

lion in 1997.

C o n t r i butions to the 40l(k) plan are invested in CMS E n e rgy

Common Stock . Amounts ch a rged to expense for this plan we re

$18 million in 1998, $20 million in 1997, and $18 million in 1996.

Beginning January 1, 1986, the amortization period for the

Pension Plan’s unrecognized net transition asset is 16 years and

11 years for the SERP’s unrecognized net transition obligation.

Prior service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over

the average remaining service period of active employees.

CMS Energy and its subsidiaries adopted SFAS 106,

E m p l oye rs ’ Accounting for Po s t re t i rement Benefits Other Th a n

Pe n s i o n s, e ffe c t ive as of the beginning of 1992 and Consumers

re c o rd e d a l i ab i l i t yo f $ 4 6 6m i l l i o n fo r t h ea c c u mu l at e dt ra n s i t i o n

o bl i gation and a corresponding reg u l at o ry asset for anticipated 

re c ove ry in utility rates (see Note 2, Utility Reg u l at i o n ) . Th e

MPSC authorized re c ove ry of the electric utility portion of

these costs in 1994 over 18 ye a rs and the gas utility portion in

1996 over 16 ye a rs. At December 31, 1 9 9 8 , C o n s u m e rs had a

re c o rded FERC reg u l at o ry asset and liability of $6 million. Th e

F E RC has authorized re c ove ry of these costs.

1 3 : L E A S E S

CMS Energy, Consumers, and Enterprises lease various assets,

including vehicles, rail cars, aircraft, construction equipment,

computer equipment, nuclear fuel and buildings. Consumers’

nuclear fuel capital leasing arrangement expires in November

2000, yet provides for additional one-year extensions upon

mutual agreement by the parties. Upon termination of the lease,

the lessor would be entitled to a cash payment equal to its

remaining inve s t m e n t , wh i ch was $72 million as of December 31,

1998. Consumers is responsible for payment of taxes, mainte-

nance, operating costs, and insurance.
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The funded status of CMS Energy ’s Pension Plan, SERP and OPEB plans is reconciled with the liability re c o rded at December 31

as follows:

In Millions

Pension Plan SERP OPEB

1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997

Benefit obligation, January 1 $792 $734 $ 41 $ 37 $ 582 $ 585
Service cost 25 24 2 2 11 10
Interest cost 60 59 3 3 43 41
Plan amendments — — — — — (7)
Actuarial loss (gain) 76 36 5 — 47 (21)
Benefits paid (79) (61) (1) (1) (28) (26)

Benefit obligation, December 31 874 792 50 41 655 582

Plan assets at fair va l u e, Ja nu a ry 1 8 8 2 7 7 9 — — 2 2 4 138
Actual return on plan assets 167 164 — — 54 37
Company contribution — — 1 1 49 49
Actual benefits paid (79) (61) (1) (1) — —

Plan assets at fair value, December 31 970(a) 882(a) — — 327 224

Benefit obligation less than
(in excess of) plan assets 96 90 (50) (41) (328) (358)

Unrecognized net (gain) loss from
experience different than assumed (176) (157) 10 5 (72) (83) 

Unrecognized prior service cost 31 35 1 2 — —
Unrecognized net transition (asset) obligation (16) (22) — — — —

Recorded liability $ (65) $ (54) $(39) $(34) $(400) $(441)

(a) Primarily stocks and bonds, including $168 million in 1998 and $153 million in 1997 of CMS Energy Common Stock.

Notes Continued
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development and management of electric, gas and other energy-

related projects in the United States and internationally, includ-

ing energy trading and marketing. CMS Energy’s reportable

segments are strategic business units organized and managed by

the nature of the products and services each provides. The

accounting policies of e a ch rep o rt able segment are the same as

t h o s ed e s c r i b e di n t h e s u m m a ry o f s i g n i fic a n t a c c o u n t i n gp o l i c i e s.

CMS Energy’s management evaluates performance based on

pretax operating income. Intersegment sales and transfers are

accounted for at current market prices and are eliminated in

consolidated pretax operating income by segment.

Th e C o n s o l i d at e d S t at e m e n t s o f I n c o m e s h ow o p e rat i n g

revenue and pretax operating income by reportable segment.

Revenues from an international energy distribution business

and a land development business fall below the quantitative

thresholds for reporting. Neither of these segments has ever met

any of the quantitative thresholds for determining reportable

segments. Other financial data for reportable segments and geo-

graphic area are as follows:

Reportable Segments

In Millions
Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization
Electric utility $ 304 $ 296 $ 282
Gas utility 97 93 87

Independent power production 22 13 8
Oil and gas exploration and production 38 48 42

Natural gas transmission, storage

and processing 14 14 7
Marketing, services and trading 2 1 —

Other 7 2 1

$ 484 $ 467 $ 427

Identifiable Assets
Electric utility(a) $ 4,640 $4,472 $4,505
Gas utility (a) 1,726 1,644 1,709

Independent power production 2,252 1,710 1,053
Oil and gas exploration and production 547 456 476

Natural gas transmission,storage

and processing 971 508 388
Marketing, services and trading 152 191 52

Other 1,022 527 180

$11,310  $9,508 $8,363

Capital Expenditures(b)

Electric utility $ 331 $ 255 $ 310
Gas utility 114 116 137

Independent power production 462 704 142
Oil and gas exploration and production 143 99 72

Natural gas transmission,storage

and processing 573 115 136
Marketing, services and trading 1 28 —

Other 76 202 66

$ 1,700 $1,519 $ 863

Minimum rental commitments under CMS Energy’s non-

cancelable leases at December 31, 1998 were:

In Millions

Capital Operating

Leases Leases

1999 $ 46 $ 20

2000 71 19

2001 18 16

2002 17 15

2003 12 12

2004 and thereafter 9 89

Total minimum lease payments 173 $171

Less imputed interest 33

Present value of net minimum lease payments 140

Less current portion 35

Noncurrent portion $105

Consumers recovers lease charges from customers and

accordingly charges payments for its capital and operating

leases to operating expense. Operating lease charges, including

charges to clearing and other accounts for the years ended

December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, were $19 million, $10 mil-

lion and $8 million, respectively.

Capital lease expenses for the years ended December 31,

1998, 1997 and 1996 were $42 million, $43 million and $46 mil-

lion, respectively. Included in these amounts for the years ended

1998, 1997 and 1996 are nuclear fuel lease expenses of $23 mil-

lion, $31 million and $25 million, respectively.

1 4 : J O I N T LY OWNE D UTI LI TY FA C I L I T I E S

Consumers is responsible for providing its share of financing

for the jointly owned utility facilities. The direct expenses of the

joint plants are included in Consumers’operating expenses. The

following table indicates the extent of Consumers’ investment in

jointly owned utility facilities:

In Millions

Net Accumulated

Investment Depreciation

December 31 1998 1997 1998 1997

Campbell Unit 3—93.3 percent $299 $314 $279 $265

Ludington pumped storage plant—

51 percent 106 112 94 88

Transmission lines—various 33 34 15 14

1 5 : R E P O RTA BL E SE GME NTS

CMS Energy operates principally in the following six reportable

segments: electric utility; gas utility; independent power produc-

tion; oil and gas exploration and production; natural gas trans-

mission, storage and processing; and energy marketing, services

and trading.

The electric utility segment consists of regulated activities

associated with the generation, transmission and distribution of

electricity in the State of Michigan. The gas utility segment 

consists of regulated activities associated with the production,

transportation, storage and distribution of natural gas in the

State of Michigan. The other reportable segments consist of the



In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Investments in Equity Method Investees
Independent power production $ 1,337 $1,205 $ 683

Natural gas transmission, storage
and processing 494 241 225

Marketing, services and trading 25 26 —

Other 217 274 85

$ 2,073 $1,746 $ 993

Earnings from Equity Method Investees (c)

Independent power production $ 158 $ 89 $ 91

Natural gas transmission,storage

and processing 9 4 3

Marketing, services and trading 2 2 —

Other 2 8 8

$ 171 $ 103 $ 102

Geographic Areas(d)

Pretax

Operating Operating Identifiable

Revenue Income Assets

1998

United States $4,867 $  702 $8,842

International 274 73 2,468

1997

United States $4,576 $  665 $7,872

International 205 51 1,636

1996

United States $4,211 $  651 $7,668

International 113 25 695

(a) Amounts include an attributed portion of Consumers’ other common
assets to both the electric and gas utility businesses.
(b) Includes electric restructuring implementation plan, capital leases for
nuclear fuel and other assets and electric demand-side management costs
(DSM) (see Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows). Amounts also
include an attributed portion of Consumers’ capital expenditures forplant
andequipment commonto boththeelectric and gas utility businesses.
(c) These amounts are included in operating revenue in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.
(d) Revenues are attributed to countries based on location of customers.

1 6 : S U P P L E M E N TA L C ASH FL OW IN FOR MAT I O N

For purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,

all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three

months or less are considered cash equivalents. Other cash flow

activities and noncash investing and financing activities were:

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Cash Tr a n s a c t i o n s
Interest paid (net of amounts capitalized) $313 $293 $240

Income taxes paid (net of refunds) 64 67 82

Non cash Tr a n s a c t i o n s
Nuclear fuel placed under capital leases $ 46 $ 4 $ 28

Other assets placed under capital leases 14 7 3

Common stock issued to acquire companies 61 — —

Assumption of debt 88 — —
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Changes in other assets and liabilities as shown on the Con-

solidated Statements of Cash Flows are described below:

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Sale of receivables, net $ (29) $ 17 $ 23

Accounts receivable (183) (160) (28)

Accrued revenue (5) 64 (82)

Inventories (42) (15) —

Accounts payable 104 67 55

Accrued refunds (1) 4 (14)

Other current assets and liabilities, net 126 (6) 25

Noncurrent deferred amounts, net (156) (6) 10

$(186) $(35) $(11)

1 7 : EQUIT Y M ETHOD  IN VE STMENTS

Certain of CMS Energy’s investments in companies, partner-

ships and joint ventures, where CMS Energy’s ownership in its

affiliates is more than 20 percent but less than a majority, are

accounted for by the equity method. Consolidated net income

includes undistributed equity earnings of $95 million in 1998,

$58 million in 1997, and $55 million in 1996 from these invest-

ments. The more significant of these investments are CMS

Energy’s 50 percent interest in Loy Yang, a 2,000 MW brown

coal-fueled power plant and coal mine in Australia, and CMS

Energy’s 50 percent interest in Jorf Lasfar, a 1,356 MW coal-

fueled power plant in Africa. Summarized combined financial

information of CMS Energy’s equity method investees fo l l ow s,

exc ept for the MCV Pa rt n e rs h i p, which is disclosed separately

in Note 18.

Income Statement Data (unaudited)

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Operating revenue $2,255 $1,603 $ 769

Operating expenses 1,503 1,154 532

Operating income 752 449 237

Other expense, net 409 271 91

Net income $ 343 $ 178 $ 146

Balance Sheet Data (unaudited)

In Millions

December 31 1998 1997

Assets
Current assets $ 646 $ 642

Property, plant and equipment, net 6,783 6,304

Other assets 2,694 2,052

$10,123 $8,998

Liabilities and Equity 
Current liabilities $ 804 $ 688

Long-term debt and other noncurrent liabilities 6,341 5,678

Equity 2,978 2,632

$10,123 $8,998

Notes Continued



1 9 : SUB SE QUE NT  E VE NT

In 1999, CMS Energy completed the acquisition of the Panhan-

dle Companies from Duke Energy Corporation for a cash pay-

ment of $1.9 billion and existing Panhandle Companies debt of

$300 million. The Panhandle Companies are primarily engaged

in the interstate transportation and storage of natural gas. The

transaction will be accounted for under the purchase method 

of accounting.

The acquisition of the Panhandle Companies initially wa s

financed in part with bridge loan facilities nego t i ated with

domestic banks and in part with ap p rox i m at e ly $800 million

o f d ebt securities issued by the Panhandle Companies. C M S

E n e rgy expects to perm a n e n t ly finance the acquisition with

existing arra n gements as well as the sale of ap p rox i m at e ly

$600 million of CMS Energy Common Stock and other CMS

E n e rgy securities.

The following unaudited pro forma combined selected finan-

cial information assumes: (i) various restructuring, realignment

and elimination of activities between the Panhandle Companies

and Duke Energy Corporation prior to closing; (ii) adjustments

resulting from the acquisition; and (iii) Panhandle Companies

a n d C M S E n e rgy fin a n c i n g t ra n s a c t i o n s ( exc ep t b r i d ge fin a n c i n g

fees) completed to facilitate the acquisition, as if the acquisition

had occurred on Ja nu a ry 1, 1 9 9 8 . Unaudited pro fo rma amounts

for operating revenue, consolidated net income, basic earnings

per share and total assets were $5.6 billion, $319 million, $2.66

and $13.8 billion, respectively.

1 8 : SU MMARIZE D F IN AN CI AL I NF ORMATI ON OF  S IGN IFI CANT
R E L ATED EN ERG Y SU PPLIER

Under the PPA with the MCV Partnership discussed in Note 3,

Consumers’ 1998 obligation to purchase electric capacity from

the MCV Partnership was 15.5 percent of Consumers’ owned

and contracted capacity. Summarized financial information of

the MCV Partnership follows:

Statements of Income (unaudited)

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Operating revenue(a) $627 $652 $645
Operating expenses 405 435 417

Operating income 222 217 228

Other expense, net 142 154 162

Net income before cumulative effect 

of accounting change 80 63 66
Cumulative effect of change in method 

of accounting for property tax — 15 —

Net income $ 80 $ 78 $ 66

Balance Sheets (unaudited)

In Millions

December 31 1998 1997

A s s e t s
Current assets(b) $ 341 $ 362

Plant, net 1,773 1,820
Other assets 173 169

$2,287 $2,351

L iabi l i t ies an d Equity
Current liabilities $ 204 $ 285

Noncurrent liabilities(c) 1,725 1,789
Partners’equity(d) 358 277

$2,287 $2,351

(a) Revenue from Consumers totaled $584 million,$609 million and $598
million for 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
(b) Receivables from Consumers totaled $49 million and $54 million, at
December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
(c) FMLP is the sole beneficiary of an owner-trust that is the lessor in a
long-term direct finance lease with the lessee, MCV Partnership. CMS
Holdings holds a 46.4 percent ownership interest in FMLP. At December
31,1998 and 1997, lease obligations of $1.41 billion and $1.52 billion,
respectively, were owed to the owner trust.CMS Holdings’ share of the
interest and principal portion for the 1998 lease payments was $59 million
and $49 million, respectively, and for the 1997 lease payments was $62
million and $28 million, respectively. The lease payments service $907 mil-
lion and $1,016 million in nonrecourse debt outstanding as of December
31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, of the owner-trust. FMLP’s debt is
secured by the MCV Partnership’s lease obligations, assets, and operating
revenues. For 1998 and 1997, the owner-trust made debt payments
(including interest) of $233 million and $192 million, respectively.
FMLP’s earnings for 1998,1997 and 1996 were $23 million,$20 million
and $17 million, respectively.
(d) CMS Midland’s recorded investment in the MCV Partnership includes
capitalized interest, which is being amortized to expense over the life of its
investment in the MCV Partnership. Covenants contained in financing
agreements prohibit the MCV Partnership from paying distributions until
certain financial test requirements are met. Consumers does not anticipate
receiving a cash distribution in the near future.

57. C MS  ENE RGY CORP ORAT I ON
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Report of Independent Public Accountants

TO CMS ENER GY  COR POR AT I O N :

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

and consolidated statements of p re fe rred stock of CMS Energy

C o rp o ration (a Mich i gan corp o ration) and subsidiaries as of

December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the re l ated consolidated stat e-

ments of i n c o m e, common stock h o l d e rs ’ e q u i t y, and cash flow s

for each of the three ye a rs in the period ended December 31,

1 9 9 8. These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based upon our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally

accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material mis-

statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evi-

dence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management,

as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-

tion. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for

our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of

CMS Energy Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31,

1998 and 1997, and the results of their operations and their

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 1998 in conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, effective

January 1, 1998, Consumers Energy Company, a wholly owned

subsidiary of CMS Energy Corporation, changed its method of

accounting for property taxes.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Detroit, Michigan,

January 26, 1999 (except with respect to the matters disclosed 

in Note 3, “Consumers’Electric Utility Rate Matters,” and

Note 19, as to which the date is March 29, 1999).
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In Millions, Except Per Share Amounts

1998 (Unaudited) 1997 (Unaudited)

Quarters Ended March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Operating revenue(a) $1,374 $1,132 $1,286 $1,349 $1,295 $1,022 $1,030 $1,434

Pretax operating income (a) $ 197 $ 188 $ 222 $ 168 $ 204 $ 158 $ 178 $ 176

Consolidated net income (a) $ 88 $ 65 $ 81 $ 51 $ 78 $ 47 $ 60 $ 59

Basic earnings (loss) per

average common share :(b)

CMS Energy (a) $ .79 $ .63 $ .81 $ .44 $ .73 $ .48 $ .64 $ .54

Class G $ 1.09 $ .12 $ (.16) $ .52 $ 1.18 $ .16 $ (.21) $ .70

Diluted earnings (loss) per

average common share :(b)

CMS Energy (a) $ .77 $ .62 $ .80 $ .44 $ .72 $ .48 $ .63 $ .54

Class G $ 1.09 $ .12 $ (.16) $ .52 $  1.18 $ .16 $ (.21) $ .70

Dividends declared per

common share:

CMS Energy $ .30 $ .30 $ .33 $ .33 $ .27 $ .27 $ .30 $ .30

Class G $ .31 $ .31 $  .325 $ .325 $  .295 $  .295 $ .31 $ .31

Common stock prices (c)

CMS Energy:

High $ 47 5⁄16 $ 47 3⁄16 $ 44 3⁄4 $ 50 1⁄8 $ 34 1⁄2 $ 35 5⁄8 $     38 1⁄16 $ 44 1⁄16

Low $ 41 7⁄8 $ 40 11⁄16 $ 38 3⁄4 $ 43 3⁄16 $ 31 1⁄2 $ 31 1⁄8 $     34 7⁄8 $ 3511⁄16

Class G:

High $ 26 5⁄8 $ 26 7⁄8 $ 25 1⁄4 $ 26 1⁄2 $ 19 7⁄8 $ 19 7⁄8 $ 22 $ 27 1⁄8

Low $ 22 1⁄4 $ 23 1⁄4 $ 21 3⁄8 $ 23 1⁄8 $ 17 7⁄8 $ 17 5⁄8 $ 19 $ 20 5⁄8

(a) Amounts in the first quarter of 1998 and 1997 were restated for comparative purposes.
(b) The sum of the quarters may not equal the annual earnings per share due to changes in shares outstanding.
(c) Based on New York Stock Exchange—Composite transactions.

Quarterly Financial and Common Stock Information
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Selected Financial Information

1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

Operating revenue (in millions) ($) 5,141 4,781 4,324 3,890 3,614
Consolidated net income (in millions) ($) 285 244 224 195 177
Average common shares outstanding (in thousands)

CMS Energy 102,446 96,144 92,462 88,810 85,888
Class G 8,333 8,015 7,727 7,511 —

Earnings per average common share
CMS Energy—Basic ($) 2.65 2.39 2.27 2.16 2.07

—Diluted ($) 2.62 2.37 2.26 2.16 2.06
Class G —Basic and Diluted ($) 1.56 1.84 1.82 .38 —

Cash from operations (in millions) ($) 516 624 647 640 603
Capital expenditures, excludes capital

lease additions and DSM (in millions) ($) 1,295 678 643 508 575
Total assets (in millions) ($) 11,310 9,508 8,363 7,909 7,159
Long-term debt, excluding current

maturities (in millions) ($) 4,726 3,272 2,842 2,906 2,709
Noncurrent portion of capital

leases (in millions) ($) 105 75 103 106 108
Total preferred stock (in millions) ($) 238 238 356 356 356
Total Trust Preferred Securities (in millions) ($) 393 393 100 — —
Cash dividends declared per common share

CMS Energy ($) 1.26 1.14 1.02 .90 .78
Class G ($) 1.27 1.21 1.15 .56 —

Market price of common stock at year-end
CMS Energy ($) 48 7⁄16 44 1⁄16 33 5⁄8 29 7⁄8 227⁄8

Class G ($) 25 1⁄4 27 1⁄8 18 3⁄8 18 7⁄8 —
Book value per common share at year-end

CMS Energy ($) 19.61 16.84 15.24 13.51 11.16
Class G ($) 11.46 10.91 11.38 10.60 —

Return on average common equity (%) 14.2 14.7 15.7 17.1 19.8
Return on assets (%) 5.5 5.6 5.4 5.2 5.0
Number of employees at year-end

(full-time equivalents) 9,710 9,682 9,712 10,105 9,972

Electr ic U t i l i ty  Sta t ist ic s
Sales (billions of kWh) 40.0 37.9 37.1 35.5 34.5
Customers (in thousands) 1,640 1,617 1,594 1,570 1,547
Average sales rate per kWh (¢) 6.50 6.57 6.55 6.36 6.29

Ga s Uti l i ty  St at ist ics
Sales and transportation deliveries (bcf) 360 420 448 404 409
Customers (in thousands) ( a ) 1,558 1,533 1,504 1,476 1,448
Average sales rate per mcf ($) 4.56 4.44 4.45 4.42 4.48

I n t e r nat ion al En ergy- Rela ted Stat ist i cs
CMS Energy’s share of unconsolidated
independent power production 
revenue (in millions) ($) 761 621 493 497 385

Independent power production 
sales (millions of kWh) 19,017 13,126 7,823 7,422 6,216

CMS Energy’s share of unconsolidated
natural gas transmission, storage and
processing revenue (in millions) ($) 67 51 42 26 7

CMS Energy’s share of unconsolidated
marketing, services and trading revenue ($) 291 202 — — —

Gas managed and marketed for end users (bcf) 366 243 108 101 66

Exp lorat i on  and Produc tion Stat ist i cs
Sales (millions of net equivalent barrels) 12.1 11.4 10.1 9.0 5.6
Proved reserves (millions of net equivalent barrels) 182.6 152.0 133.5 124.5 108.0
Proved reserves added 
(millions of net equivalent barrels) (b ) 42.7 29.8 18.7 25.6 29.0

Finding cost per net equivalent barrel (b ) ($) 3.35 2.38 2.94 5.06 5.92

(a) Excludes off-system transportation customers.
(b) Certain prior year amounts were restated for comparative purposes.
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Shareholder Information

D IR ECT DE POS IT AND AUTOMATIC  INVESTMEN T:

CMS Energy can deposit your dividends dire c t ly into your bank

a c c o u n t . We also offer automatic investment from your bank

account to purchase CMS Common Stock and Class G Common

S t o ck and ke ep your investment in CMS Energy grow i n g. P l e a s e

contact the Investor Services Dep a rtment for more info rm at i o n .

E L I M I N AT ING DUPLICAT E MAI LIN GS:

To maintain more than one account, but eliminate duplicate mail-

ings of a n nual and quart e rly rep o rt s, send the labels from com-

p a ny mailings to the Investor Services Dep a rt m e n t , i n d i c ating the

names you wish to ke ep on the mailing list. ( D ividend ch e cks and

p roxy materials will continue to be sent to each account.)

C O N S O L I D ATI NG  A CCO UNTS :

To consolidate separate accounts into one account, contact the

Investor Services Department.

O B TAI NI NG REP ORT S :

Shareholders may obtain without charge and exclusive of

exhibits: CMS Energy’s Form 10–K and an audiocassette

recording of the annual report text. Please address all requests

to the Investor Services Department.

STOCK  E XC HANG E LI STIN G:

CMS Energy Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock

Exchange under the symbol CMS. Class G Common Stock is

listed under the symbol CPG.

TRANSF ER AG ENT, R EGI STR AR AND PAYI NG  A GENT:

Investor Services Department, 212 W. Michigan Ave., Jackson,

Michigan 49201

Follow CMS Energy on the Internet:

http://www.cmsenergy.com 

1 99 9 A N NUA L ME ETING:

CMS Energy’s 1999 annual meeting is scheduled for 10:30 a.m.

on May 28 at the Dearborn Inn, Dearborn, Michigan. Proxy

material will be mailed in April.

RE GIS TERED  SHA REH OLDERS:

As of February 19, 1999, the number of registered shareholders

totaled 65,871 for CMS Energy Common Stock and 5,071 for

Class G Common Stock.

SHAREHO LDE R CO NTA C T S :

Inquiries about stock ownership, stock purchase, change of

address, dividend payments, dividend reinvestment or the Stock

Purchase Plan may be directed to:

Investor Services Department

212 W. Michigan Ave.

Jackson, MI 49201 

(517) 788-1868 or send an E-mail to invest@cmsenergy.com

For financial and operating information, please contact:

Investor Relations Department

212 W. Michigan Ave.

Jackson, MI 49201

(517) 788-2590

STOCK  PU RC HAS E PLAN:

Investors can buy shares of CMS Energy Common Stock and

Class G Common Stock directly through the Corporation’s

Stock Purchase Plan, with no brokerage commission or service

charge. Other plan features include dividend reinvestment, cer-

tificate safekeeping, direct deposit of dividends, automatic

investment, sale of shares and gifting of shares. For more infor-

mation and a plan prospectus, please contact the Investor Ser-

vices Department or click on the “Invest in CMS Energy”icon

at www.cmsenergy.com.

STOC K OWN ERSHI P:

As a CMS Energy shareholder, you have the option of direct

stock ownership or indirect stock ownership. Under direct stock

ownership, the shares are registered in your name; you can pur-

chase additional shares directly from the company with no com-

missions or service charge; you enjoy the benefits of direct

communication to and from CMS Energy; and you can partici-

pate in the CMS Energy stock purchase plan. Under indirect

stock ownership, your shares are held in “street name” by a bro-

ker, and your dividend payments come through a broker rather

than directly from CMS Energy. (For more information on

direct and indirect ownership, please contact the Investor Ser-

vices Department for the brochure “Stock Ownership: What

Every Investor Should Know.”)
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